

GIRLS EQUAL

Geena Davis Institute \mathcal{H} on Gender in Media

TAKING THE

GIRLS AND YOUNG WOMEN ON CHANGING THE FACE OF LEADERSHIP RESEACH REPORT

CONTENTS

Tab	le of Contents	2
Acl	nowledgements	4
1.	Executive Summary	4
2.	Introduction to the study	6
2.1	Focus of the research	6
	1. What factors encourage and discourage girls' and young women's leadership aspirations?	7
	2. How do girls and young women become leaders?	7
2.2	Partners	7
2.3	Plan International	7
2.4	Geena Davis Institute on Gender in Media	7
3.	Setting the scene on female leadership	7
3.1.	Defining leadership	8
3.2	Rates of women in political and private sector leadership	9
3.3	Pathways to leadership	.10
	3.3.1 Stereotypes and sexism	
	3.3.2 Aspirations, barriers and enablers	.11
	3.3.3 Experience	.12
4.	Methodology	12
4.1.	Data collection tools and processes	.12
	4.1.1 Survey	.12
	4.1.2 FGDs	.13
4.2	Analysis	.13
4.3	Ethics	.13
4.4	Research Limitations	.14
5.	Findings	14
5.1	Leadership aspirations of girls and young women	.14
	5.1.1 Leadership Aspirations by Background	15
	5.1.2 Leadership Aspirations by Region	.17
	5.1.3 Leadership Aspirations by Country Income Classification	.17
	5.1.4. Predicators and deterrents to leadership aspirations	.18
5.2	The local verses global nature of leadership	.21
5.3	Characteristics and qualities of leadership	.21
	5.3.1. Driving change in the community	.22
	5.3.2. Advancing gender equality and women's and girls' rights	.25
	5.3.3. Kindness, fairness, consideration and compassion	25

5.3	.4. Communication skills	25
5.4. Mo	tivation to become leaders	25
5.5 Barr	riers to leadership	26
5.5	.1. Becoming a leader is harder for women	26
5.5	.2. Harassment and violence	28
5.5	.3. Gender stereotypes as an inhibitor of female leadership	.30
5.5	.4 Balancing leadership with family or home life	31
5.5	.5 Early and forced child marriage	.33
5.6. Ena	ablers for leadership	.33
5.6	.1. Young women have confidence to lead	.33
5.6	.2. Predictors and deterrents of confidence in leadership abilities	35
5.6	.3. Encouragement, support and influence	36
5.6	.4. Role models	38
5.7. The	e role of family	41
5.8. Exp	perience of leadership	.42
6. Co	nclusions and Calls to Action	45
6.1. Cor	nclusions	45
Gir	ls' and young women's leadership aspirations	45
Bar	rriers to pursuing leadership ambitions	45
Pat	thways to pursuing leadership aspirations	45
Fer	ninist leadership	46
6.1	.1 Findings for further investigation	46
6.1 Rec	ommendations	.46
7. BIE	BLIOGRAPHY	50
8. Anne	ex 1: Detailed methodology	54
8.1 Ove	rview	54
8.2. Cou	untry selection and sample	54
8.2	.1. Participant selection	54
Tal	ble 2: Response Summary by Country	55
8.3. Sur	vey	.56
8.3	.1 Modality	56
8.3	.2. Tool	56
8.3	.3. Testing	. 56
8.3	.4 Consent & ethics	.57
8.3	.5 Analysis	57
8.4. Foo	cus group discussions	.57
8.4	.1 Tools	57
8.4	.2. Local research teams – recruitment and training	58
8.4	.3. Consent & ethics	. 58
8.4	.4. Analysis	59

8.5. Limitations	
8.5.1. Survey	
8.5.2 FGDs	
Annex 2: SURVEY	59
Annex 3: FOCUS GROUP DISCUSSION TOOL	62

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This research was undertaken by Plan International in partnership with the Geena Davis Institute for Gender in Media. The report team included Drs. Caroline Heldman and Soraya Giaccardi at the Geena Davis Institute on Gender in Media; and Emma Langley, Sophie Tanner, Dr. Jacqueline Gallinetti, Amy Ashlee, Miriam Gauer at Plan International. Thanks are due to staff at Plan International offices in all of the countries that participated in both the survey and qualitative focus groups. In particular we would like to thank:

- Dominican Republic: Tania Fajardo, Michela da Rodda, Laura Breton and Santa Hilma
- India: Soumen Ghosh, Prakash Gus, Shanu Somvanshi, Ritu Sahni, Poonam Mehta, Charu Anand
- Japan: Maki Enokita, Mariko Inoue and Naoko Shiroya
- Senegal: Mamadou Ndiaye, Madina Dia and Oumou Mbaye
- South Sudan: Stella Drate, Anthony Kamba and Allen Poni

We would also like to thank Alex Munive, Anja Stuckert, Madeleine Askham, Rosamund Ebdon, Danny Plunkett, Davinder Kumar and Carla Jones for providing comments and inputs into the technical report. Likewise, thanks to Sarah Lewis for providing additional input into the literature review. In addition, we would like to acknowledge the input from the following young people who work with Plan International for contributing to the design of the study: Caren, Chamathya, Aneeka, Erika and Marie Augustine. We would also like to acknowledge the input from the following young people in the development of the qualitative tool: Sophie, Gonzalo, Bhavana and Sifat.

Finally, we would like to thank the girls and young women taking part in this research for their time and insights.

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

"Leadership is an ability to lead, set a good example, and give the best of oneself to serve *people.*" Young woman, 18-20, Senegal

Research across 19 countries, involving over 10,000 girls and young women has revealed a lot about girls' aspirations to lead: about what holds them back, what encourages them and what needs to be in place for their aspirations to become reality. The story shows that many girls want to be leaders, they want, too, to be a particular type of leader - compassionate, dedicated to their community, to upholding girls' rights and listening to the needs of others - but they are not encouraged in their ambitions. They are held back by society's limited expectations of what is "appropriate" for them as young women and by a leadership model of authority and hierarchy that they cannot identify with: denied the places and spaces, and the role models, that would enable them to realise their dreams.

- **Girls and young women aspire to lead:** 59%¹ of girls say they would like to be a leader in their career or job but fewer have aspirations to lead in their country (21%), community (19%), or family (23%).
- **Girls and young women have confidence in their leadership abilities:** only 5% said they felt no confidence at all, with 62% confident or very confident in their ability to lead.
- Girls and young women have a different definition of leadership: one that is collaborative and brings about positive change, rather than authoritarian and controlling.
- Career aspirations increase with education and social status and decrease with marriage.
- Wanting to be a national leader increases with social status and marriage
- Girls with lower social status are more likely to aspire to become leaders in their communities
- Age is critical: across all areas of leadership, as girls get older their ambitions decrease, Girls are also acutely aware of the barriers they are likely to face if they follow their aspirations.
- ✓ Gender discrimination, blatant sexism and stereotyping are all named as barriers: these are tied in with pervasive social and cultural norms and the gendered expectations around balancing work and family life.
- ✓ Overall girls perceive a lack of respect for, and harsher criticism of, female leaders.
- ✓ 60% of girls and young women believe women have to **work harder than men** to be respected.
- ✓ 93% believe female leaders will have experienced **unwanted physical contact.**
- These perceptions of gender barriers are enough of a deterrent but they are not just perceptions: young women who have actual experience of leading often reported even higher levels of gender discrimination than respondents with less or no experience of leading.

"Balancing between work and personal life may be difficult. I don't think it's difficult for men to balance between work and their personal life. However, it seems much tougher for women to balance their personal life and work when they become a leader. I feel women leaders are pressured to choose between work or their personal life." Young woman, 15-20, Japan

The research clearly reveals that young women want to be change-makers. And that **they are advancing definitions of leadership** based on community, collaboration, social justice and gender equality. They rate interpersonal skills, kindness and fairness over more traditional notions of leadership such as power, ambition, status and hierarchy. Girls' definition of leadership is one of serving others not being served by them.

"A good leader will always think about her people." Girl, 15-17, South Sudan

There are regional differences across the survey and differences as a result of educational and income levels, some of which we will analyse later in the report, but there are also marked similarities between the opinions and experiences of girls across the globe. Everywhere the role of families and communities are critical to harnessing the leadership aspirations of girls and young women. They are influenced most by their immediate environment and look to their family members as role models and supporters and to release them from restrictive stereotyping. Whilst family support alone will not be enough to overcome the structured barriers to girls' and women's leadership, achieving progress and equal representation without it, is likely to be impossible.

What must be done

The girls and young women in the study know what will strengthen them in their leadership ambitions:

• Family backing is key: policy makers, community leaders and civil society organisations must support families to value girls and champion their leadership ambitions.

¹ All percentages in the executive summary have been rounded up or down to the nearest whole figure.

- Governments, the media and the corporate sector should, through example and public campaigning, challenge sexism and discrimination at all levels.
- **Transform the role of leadership**, to value collaboration and gender equality above hierarchy and control.
- Education authorities and funders must provide girls with quality education and opportunities to strengthen their skills and knowledge.
- **Crucially girls need role models and leadership experience:** governments, corporations and civil society organisations must encourage female leaders and mentors.

Only then will they be able to transcend the restrictions of the gendered expectations which surround them from birth to play their part as equals in their families, workplaces, communities and countries.

2. INTRODUCTION TO THE STUDY

Taking the Lead seeks to understand and uncover girls' and young women's perspectives on what leadership is and should be, and the processes, enablers and barriers they face in realising their potential as leaders. This research, led by Plan International and the Geena Davis Institute on Gender in Media, cuts across economies, cultures and societies and includes the voices of over 10,000 girls and young women in 19 countries across the globe. This research seeks to contribute to filling the gap in understanding what it means for girls and young women from different contexts, economies, cultures and backgrounds to be leaders. Importantly it also seeks to uncover what encourages and discourages their leadership aspirations. It is part of an ongoing enquiry into girls' and young women's aspirations and pathways to leadership, with a second phase of the research planned to focus on the role of media in shaping such pathways.²

It is well established that throughout their lives, girls and women face a number of barriers to their active participation in civic life and, in particular, in positions of leadership. From gender norms and stereotypes, to institutional barriers, to a lack of investment in developing individual and collective capacity, girls and young women face wide-ranging discrimination that diminishes their self-confidence and restricts their ambition. This research seeks to gather a stronger, global understanding of these issues, based on the voices of girls and young women themselves.

In this section of the report, we outline the focus of the research and research questions, introduce the partners and provide a brief outline of key existing global literature on the topic, before going into detail on the methodology. The findings are presented in section 5 according to thematic analysis and the final section outlines the key conclusions and recommendations emerging from these findings.

2.1 Focus of the research

This research examines various dimensions of what leadership means and looks like to girls and young women - such as their aspirations and how they are formed and change over time. It looks at the role of gender norms in shaping girls' and young women's ambitions to become leaders. It also explores what leadership means to girls and young women in different country and cultural settings. Its findings offer a unique insight into girls' and young women's experiences on the road to leadership and equal representation, which lie at the heart of achieving gender equality.

Based on a review of existing literature, and the gaps in the existing evidence, the research questions for this part of the study are as follows:

² The second phase of this research will draw on this report and be supplemented by additional analysis of how leadership is portrayed by the media and what that means for girls and young women's leadership aspirations. It will be launched as State of the World Girls Report 2019 for International Day of the Girl, 11 October 2019.

1. What factors encourage and discourage girls' and young women's leadership aspirations?

Seeking insights into the definitions of leadership; influences on aspirations and how they change over time; barriers and enablers to setting leadership goals.

2. How do girls and young women become leaders?

Investigating perceived and actual pathways to leadership; perceived and actual advantages and disadvantages of being in a leadership position; the characteristics of leadership; catalysts for leadership.

The methodology and research tools were designed to generate findings around these two questions.

2.2 Partners

In 2018, Plan International and the Geena Davis Institute on Gender in Media (GDIGM) forged a unique partnership, drawing together their respective expertise in girls' rights, aspirations of girls and young women, and gender and the media. The research was conceived in June 2018 as a joint project, with Plan International leading on qualitative research components and GDIGM on the survey and media components. The partnership spans both phases of the research – this report and State of the World Girls Report 2019, to be released in October 2019.

2.3 Plan International

Plan International strives to advance children's rights and equality for girls all over the world. The organisation is an independent development and humanitarian organisation working alongside children, young people, supporters and partners to tackle the root causes of the challenges facing girls and all vulnerable children. Plan International drives change in practice and policy at local, national and global levels using our reach, experience and knowledge. For over 85 years we have been building powerful partnerships for children, and we are active in over 75 countries.

In 2018, Plan International launched a new global campaign: Girls Get Equal. Girls Get Equal is campaigning in support of girls' power, freedom, representation and leadership. Its vision is a world where girls and young women, in all their diversity, are equally able to make decisions about their own lives and shape the world around them. Plan International is committed to using the findings from this research to feed into advocacy and programming at global, national and local levels in furtherance of the goals of Girls Get Equal.

2.4 Geena Davis Institute on Gender in Media

The mission of the Geena Davis Institute on Gender in Media is to engage, educate, and influence media content creators, marketeers, and audiences about the importance of eliminating gender bias and stereotypes in media. To this end, the Institute is dedicated to intersectional analysis of representations of gender, race, ability, and sexuality. The Geena Davis Institute has amassed the largest body of research on gender prevalence in family entertainment, spanning more than twenty years. The Institute's research serves as the basis for education and outreach programmes that help families, studios, educators and content creators become critical consumers and producers.

3. SETTING THE SCENE ON FEMALE LEADERSHIP

Overall, a review of the literature reveals a gap in studies which look at how girls' and young women's aspirations for leadership are formed and the pathways they follow. There is currently a scarcity of global evidence identifying common factors that inhibit girls' and young women's leadership confidence and ambition in a range of different contexts. While data exists for rates of women's leadership across regions and countries, most of the studies on the barriers to women leaders – the 'why' of their

plan-international.org and seejane.org

underrepresentation – focus on leadership in North American or European countries, or are focused on specific communities within a country. However, there are some studies which reveal useful contextual information or support hypotheses around girls and young women's leadership across domains – including in politics, education systems, peace-making processes and the private sector – and the relevant barriers and enablers. These studies provide a basis for this research and are examined briefly in this section of the report.

It is important to note that this is not a comprehensive literature review on the notion of female leadership. It has been undertaken to shed light on some of the thinking behind the defining factors of female leadership - its underlying philosophy, as well as the enablers and barriers. In addition, a variety of institutional factors that stall female leadership were not included in the literature review: sexual harassment in educational and workplace settings, lack of mentoring and sponsorship of women in corporate settings, lack of political party recruitment and training for female candidates.

3.1 Defining leadership

A core question of this research is focussed on how girls and young women themselves define and understand leadership and, therefore, this research has intentionally held back from defining leadership. However, understanding different approaches to interpreting leadership and what is required to become a leader is vital to interpreting our results.

Generally, leadership has been defined as a process involving individuals influencing or directing 'followers'¹. Characteristics associated with leadership are often gendered,² with masculine management associated with qualities such as competitiveness, hierarchical authority, high control for the leader, and unemotional and analytic problem solving.³ Often, such leadership characteristics counter traditional norms on the roles and characteristics of women and girls, who are expected to be submissive, nurturing and weak.⁴ However, there is increasing discussion on 'feminine leadership', a term used to describe how women have demonstrated their abilities and skills to succeed through alternative means to the 'boys clubs'.⁵ Despite recognising the importance of women and girls in becoming leaders, and how they have responded to and negotiated the entrenched structural barriers, the approach endorses harmful gender stereotypes about what women and girls are and should be as leaders.⁶

The concept of feminist leadership takes a different approach, prioritising collective power and decisionmaking, collaboration, cooperation and relationship building in leadership styles. Importantly, feminist leadership seeks to challenge gender inequality by harnessing shared, collective power, authority and decision-making – from girls and women in particular - in a common pursuit of social, political, economic and cultural equality.⁷ This notion of leadership importantly differs from other leadership styles in its aim to scrutinise the gendered nature of power in the social, political, economic and technological realms and how this has served to exclude women and girls from power and authority in the public sphere.⁸ Informed by the feminist lens, feminist leaders are skilled to identify and counteract the intersectional structures and processes of systemic discrimination, exclusion and subjugation of others – particularly girls and women.

"Empowering girls, boys and youth as active drivers of change" is one of Plan International's key priority areas. This approach focuses on girls' individual and collective power and celebrating youth-led activism for gender equality. Through this work, Plan International aims to galvanise support to realise and strengthen girls' agency and collective action, interconnect young people's change initiatives, and catalyse them to influence decision makers and institutions, while contributing to shift norms and behaviours so that public opinion sees girls as critical drivers of social and political change. Being part of and supporting existing movements of young, and particularly female, advocates, activists and campaigners means that our work is driven by the agenda of those for whom political change matters most.

Promoting young female leadership is also core to Girls Get Equal - the campaigns component of Plan International's priority area "Empowering girls, boys and youth as active drivers of change". While this aim of the campaign includes access to formal positions of power and authority, such as increasing the numbers of young women and girls in decision-making roles in public life, it also looks beyond this. The campaign seeks to redefine leadership to better reflect how girls, young women and young advocates and activists are choosing to lead. The campaign will work with them to redefine the concept so that leadership is collaborative, gender transformative and inclusive. It means not reinforcing a narrow maledefined set of leadership skills and behaviours or replicating the male-dominated power and leadership structures that currently exist. Throughout the campaign there will be ongoing research and partnering with girls and young women to fully understand what it means to them to be a driver and facilitator of change.

3.2 Rates of women in political and private sector leadership

There remains a considerable under-representation of women in leadership positions globally, in both politics and the private sector.

Globally, men outnumber women three-to-one when it comes to legislative seats, with only 23% of national parliamentarian seats held by women.⁹ In 38 states (out of 195), women constitute less than 10% of parliamentarians.¹⁰ Table 1 breaks down the rates by region, showing that women hold less than 20% of parliamentary seats in Asia, Middle East and North Africa and the Pacific. As of January 2019, only three countries had achieved gender parity in parliament – Rwanda with 61% women, and Cuba and Bolivia both with 53%. There is also an intersection with age and gender in the underrepresentation of women in senior positions of political power and throughout political structures. Whilst less than 1.6% of the world's parliamentarians are under the age of 30, there is a 60:40 ratio of men to women.¹¹

Table 1: Percentage of Women in National Parliaments, as at January 2019, by Region¹²

Location	% of women in national parliaments
Americas	30.7%
Europe	28.5%
Sub-Saharan Africa	23.7%
Asia	19.6%
Middle East and North Africa	18.1%
Pacific	18.4%

According to research from Catalyst in 2018, just 24% of senior corporate roles were held by women, a decline from previous years.¹³ In terms of senior management positions, research by Grant Thornton shows progress in women accessing these roles: in 2018 it was reported that 75% of businesses across the globe have at least one woman in senior management,¹⁴ while in 2019 this has risen with the regions that have the lowest representation of at least one women in these roles are Latin America and Southern Europe.¹⁵

Table 2: Women and Senior Leadership by Region (March 2019) ¹⁶

	% of businesses with at least one woman in senior management	% of senior roles held by women
Africa	94%	31%
ASEAN	94%	28%
Asia-Pacific	85%	28%
Eastern Europe	85%	32%
EU	84%	28%

Southern Europe	83%	26%
Latin America	83%	25%
North America	92%	31%

Women's underrepresentation in the corporate sphere has persisted, despite a decade of evidence that gender diversity at the highest levels is linked to higher profits.¹⁷

3.3 Pathways to leadership

This section examines how perceptions of leadership and role incongruity (i.e. expectations that women should not be leaders) play out in relation to the experiences of girls and women.

3.3.1 Stereotypes and sexism

Across many cultures, the characteristics that are associated with being a leader are the same character traits that societies associate with men (controlling, dominant, forceful, assertive),¹⁸ while the communal characteristics that societies associate with women (affection, sympathy, nurturing, and helpfulness) are not aligned with ideas of leadership.¹⁹ When asked to describe leaders, most people use masculine terms.²⁰ Across the globe, feminine characteristics are viewed as appropriate for caretaking, while masculine characteristics are seen as better suited to the world of business and politics.²¹ In line with these gender norms, girls from all over the globe report behaviour such as downplaying their physical and intellectual abilities to avoid being perceived as masculine.²² This means that, in all domains, men are viewed as "default leaders," while women are seen as "atypical leaders."²³ Traditional gender role expectations discourage girls from seeking leadership positions, and produce prejudice against female leadership.²⁴

Discrimination in the workplace presents itself in terms of the types of jobs women do and how much they are paid. As a result of underemployment and gender wage discrimination, women are more likely to be classed as working poor.²⁵ Even when legislation protects equal opportunities and equal pay, women are more likely to work in sectors which pay less and are less stable.²⁶ Agriculture remains the most important source of employment for women in low and lower middle income countries and, in high income countries, almost one third of women in the labour market, work in the health and education sectors.²⁷ This "occupational segregation" is fed by stereotypes about suitable pursuits for men and women, and those who defy the gendered expectations face barriers, discrimination and stigma.²⁸ According to a recent study by the World Bank, 2.7 billion women in the world are legally restricted from having the same choice of jobs as men.²⁹

In contrast, a study of approximately 22,000 companies in 91 countries finds that companies with female CEOs produce higher profits, and that having women in top leadership positions significantly increases revenue.³⁰ But even where women are in leadership positions, they are consistently evaluated more negatively than male leaders. Schneider and Bos find that when women seek positions of power, they are "punished" for going against gender stereotypes,³¹ and that "female politicians are defined more by their deficits than their strengths."³² Female bosses are evaluated using a harsher standard, so people evaluate female leaders more negatively than men and consistently perceive women as lacking key leadership skills.³³ Moreover, highly accomplished women are supposed to be modest and are seen in a negative light if they tout their accomplishments.³⁴

One foundational bias is the "double-bind" where female leaders are "damned if they do and damned if they don't" when it comes to displaying masculine leadership traits.³⁵ Female political leaders have to "act masculine" to be seen as effective leaders, but in doing so, they are "punished" for not being "properly feminine." In the corporate sphere, female leaders who act in stereotypically feminine ways (e.g., express concern for others and emphasise building good relationships) are rated as less competent, but if they act "male" (e.g., task-oriented, ambitious, and assertive), they are rated negatively for being "too tough."³⁶

This bias against female leadership emerges at a young age. In a study of teens in the USA, Weissbourd finds that both boys and girls hold conscious and unconscious biases against women in leadership roles.³⁷ They are more likely to prefer men for leadership in politics and business. As adults, both men

and women continue to prefer male bosses over female bosses.³⁸ This bias persists, even though many people are aware that female leaders are judged more harshly than male leaders. In a Pew study of people in the USA, 40% believe that female leaders are held to a higher standard than male leaders, and about two-thirds believe that it is easier for men to get into the top political and corporate positions than women.³⁹

3.3.2 Aspirations, barriers and enablers

Gender stereotypes distort girls' and young women's confidence when it comes to leadership abilities. Girls and women have significantly lower self-confidence than boys and men in different nations, and this gap grows remarkably wide between the ages of four and fourteen.⁴⁰ By the time they are in their teens, boys have significantly higher confidence in their leadership abilities than girls.⁴¹ The confidence gap is even larger in male-dominated activities, like business and politics, where most people over-estimate men's abilities and under-estimate women's abilities.⁴² Weissbourd, in his study with teenagers in the USA, asked why girls lack confidence in their own leadership abilities and the leadership abilities of other girls.⁴³ They identified many factors lowering their confidence, including parental expectations and gender stereotypes they confront from peers and school.

Girls learn at an early age that it is not appropriate for them to be ambitious. Studies confirm that boys and girls have similar levels of ambition when they are young, but girls grow into women with significantly less ambition as they internalise gender role expectations.⁴⁴ For instance, girls in the Global South are often socialised to remain docile and subservient to men, in order to prove that they are "good girls."⁴⁵ It has also been argued that girls receive less external encouragement and recognition for being ambitious, and, as a result, they learn that this desire will not be rewarded.⁴⁶ Instead, many women settle for "recognition by proxy" through attention for their physical attractiveness or the accomplishments of their husband or children. A girl's childhood ambition of becoming a member of parliament or the CEO of a company are eventually forgotten and replaced with pursuits that are more conventional.⁴⁷

Boys also receive more encouragement to be politically ambitious from their family, friends, and peers, and adult men receive significantly more encouragement to run for public office from their support network than women do.⁴⁸ Family encouragement is especially important— encouragement increases the likelihood of political ambition by 43%.⁴⁹

Societal cues and encouragement translate into men having significantly higher rates of political and professional ambition than women do.⁵⁰ In the USA, a country with relatively few women in political leadership, teenage boys are significantly more likely to have considered running for office than teenage girls (15% compared to 9%),⁵¹ and in adulthood, warped perception of skills leads to women thinking they are less qualified to run for political office than men with the same or similar qualifications.⁵²

According to a 2017 KMPG study of women in the USA, young women become leaders if they receive encouragement from friends and family.⁵³ Within their community, girls' encouraged to become leaders by the people in their lives (peers, teachers and parents) sets the right expectation for them (i.e. that they can and should lead) and rewards their leadership pursuits accordingly. In a 2017 study in Palestine, Hamad, Gercama and Jones found that girls encouraged one another to take education seriously and motivated other girls who were thinking of discontinuing their education.⁵⁴ Additionally, Gerard and Booth concluded that parental academic support is linked to greater academic expectations for female adolescents.⁵⁵

The visibility of women in powerful positions is also an important factor: multiple studies find that girls are more likely to have leadership ambition if they have a role model who is a female leader.⁵⁶ In a study that examines adolescents aged eleven to fifteen, Beaman *et al.* discover that the gender gap in adolescents' career aspirations closed by 32% in Indian villages that are female-led after two election cycles, when compared to villages that do not hold leadership positions specifically for women.⁵⁷

Visibility of women leaders in media is also a factor in shaping girls' and women's perceptions of leadership. Media is one of the primary ways children learn that ambition is acceptable for boys, but not for girls. According to the Weissbourd study, media that denigrates female leadership discourages girls' leadership confidence and ambition. Previous research conducted by the Geena Davis Institute finds that media shape perceptions of who can be an authentic leader, and in most cases, this means men. In the only global study of entertainment media portrayals of leadership, the Institute found that most leaders are men in corporate (86%), political (91%), religious (100%), and academic (71%) settings. The fact that

so few women are portrayed as leaders in popular entertainment sends a clear signal to girls that leadership is a male domain.⁵⁸

3.3.3 Experience

The ambition gap is directly caused by a lack of recognition and encouragement of leadership abilities. Studies in the USA have found that teachers give boys more encouragement than girls to participate in competitive activities, such as student government and debate,⁵⁹ and children who engage in competitive activities have more confidence and interest in leadership than others do. Again, these studies examine the more general or typical definitions of leadership.

Archard conducted a study with girls in Australia, New Zealand, South Africa, and the U.K., and found that girls have more leadership ambition when they are given opportunities to practice and develop leadership skills.⁶⁰ There is also evidence to suggest that one way of providing leadership experience and opportunities is through collective action and activism, which enables girls and young women to exercise and explore different styles of leadership.⁶¹ Civic action gives girls and young women the skill sets, confidence and experience to then pursue their leadership ambitions – whether at home or in the local community, within boardrooms or in parliament. Investing in activism means investing in young female leadership.

4. METHODOLOGY

This research sought to capture the voice and perspective of girls and young women and their own understanding of leadership and potential pathways and barriers to becoming leaders themselves. However, it was also important to have a global overview of these issues, allowing comparability between different types of countries and contexts. Countries were selected at random from within regional and income categories. Plan International has offices in all participating countries. A mixed methods approach was applied: a quantitative survey in 19 countries and in-depth, participatory focus group discussions (FGDs) in a sub-set of five of those countries (see Box 1). Girls and young women aged 15-24 were the target in both approaches, capturing perspectives across the breadth of different contexts whilst enabling discussions on the complex and nuanced aspects of the research questions. However, for reasons which are undetermined, the survey data included responses from 317 25-year-olds. The research includes all the survey responses in the analysis. In this section, we provide an overview of the methodology, with further details outlined in Annex 1.

Box 1. Countries in which the research took place

Survey: Benin, Canada, Denmark, Dominican Republic, Finland, Honduras, India, Japan, Netherlands, Peru, Philippines, Senegal, Sierra Leone, South Sudan, Sweden, Vietnam, Uganda, USA, Zimbabwe.

Focus group discussions: Dominican Republic, India, Japan, Senegal, South Sudan

4.1 Data collection tools and processes

4.1.1 Survey

The target sample for the survey was 500 girls and young women per country, and overall 10,064 responses were received from across the nineteen countries. The survey included 10 closed questions on aspirations to lead, experience of leading, confidence, encouragement, role models and discrimination (see Annex 2 for the full survey). Five demographic questions were included to allow more in-depth analysis. The survey was delivered through online and SMS modalities using two survey firms, Kantar and Ipsos Mori. In addition, Kantar used two alternative methods of data collection following low response rate from SMS in some countries: Computer Assisted Personal Interviewing (CAPI), and Computer Assisted Telephone Interviewing (CATI).

4.1.2 FGDs

Twelve FGDs were carried out in each of the five selected countries, with commonly between 6-8 participants aged 15-24 in each, 413 in total across the five countries. In most countries FGDs were carried out in a mixture of urban and rural locations and the girls were from mixed backgrounds. The FGDs were centred around two key activities: (i) 'body mapping' to understand perspectives on characteristics and experience of a young female leader, and (ii) an activity to gauge the main sources of influence and inspiration in the lives of girls and young women. The FGDs were designed with the intent of understanding how girls and young women themselves perceived leadership in their own contexts. The FGD tool was developed in consultation with young people and adapted for each country context. Appropriate local researchers were identified to facilitate and lead FGDs after taking part in an intensive, practical training run by Plan International. The research tool used for the FGDs is included in Annex 3.

4.2 Analysis

The analysis framework was designed in order to unpack the key research questions as stated above. Recognising that in order for young women to become leaders they need to aspire to and achieve their goals. In doing so they need to overcome the gender norms and structures which limit their vision of the possibilities awaiting them. The research therefore set out to understand whether they aspire to leadership and the common barriers, pathways and enabling factors. The quantitative data from the survey was analysed using SPSS and Stata and the qualitative data was analysed using NVivo. The combined analysis framework presented below represents the top-level coding themes, according to which this report is structured.

Table 3: Top level analysis framework

	Aspirations to leadership	Characteristics and qualities of leadership	Motivations to become leaders	Barriers to leadership	Enablers to leadership	Level of experien ce of leadershi p
Quant	Х			Х	Х	Х
Qual		X	Х	Х	Х	Х

4.3 Ethics

Plan International has considerable experience working with and conducting research with children and young people, and follow strict protocols on safeguarding and ethics. All processes in this research aligned to Plan International's *Framework for Ethical Monitoring, Evaluation, Research and Learning (MERL)*. In addition, an external ethics check was sought from independent child rights academics who approved all research within the project. In Senegal and South Sudan appropriate national and local ethical approval and permissions were obtained prior to data collection starting.

Participatory tools were designed to minimise risks to participants, avoiding traumatic or sensitive topics and risks of disclosure. The firms responsible for survey delivery also followed specific guidelines and international standards on research ethics, including obtaining permission to operate and conduct such surveys in each country. Survey participants were given the option to opt-in after being given details of the survey, and participants under 18 were required to seek parental approval. For the five countries in which FGDs were carried out, informed consent was gathered for all participants prior to the start of data collection, including from parents/guardians for those under eighteen and unmarried. Researchers were trained on informed consent, confidentiality, anonymity and safeguarding procedures. In all FGDs with the exception of Senegal, research teams were all female; in Senegal, for reasons of capacity, male notetakers were present whilst female researchers led discussions.

4.4 Research Limitations

There are several limitations that must be considered, stemming from modalities, variations between countries and ethics. Firstly, due to ethical considerations and challenges with accessing younger children, especially using technology, this research project was only conducted with 15-25-year olds. Therefore, it does not tell us about girls in early adolescence where many critical challenges may be taking place.

The survey was only able to reach girls and young women who were literate and had access to technology and therefore would not have reached the most marginalised girls and young women. As a result, the findings are not generalisable across whole populations. Additionally, the survey only asked fifteen short, concise and closed questions which did not allow exploration into the nuances of leadership or follow-up on specific issues. However, these nuances emerged in the qualitative data. Finally, as the survey was administered remotely using online, telephone and SMS modalities, it is not possible to verify that all respondents were definitely female and within the 15-25-year-old age range, although there were requirements to confirm gender and age at the start of the survey.

Recruitment methods for the FGDs varied across countries. In all countries except for Japan, and to varying degrees, participants had access to Plan International programming. These participants are, therefore, likely to have an increased awareness of issues around gender equality. Levels of experience and confidence in facilitation and notetaking skills varied considerably between the researchers engaged as data collectors across all five countries and sometimes within countries. Whilst all FGDs were audio recorded, there was some variation in the quality of the transcriptions and the translations into English. Similarly when using translation, many times the original or cultural forms of expression used by a research participant can be lost in the translation process. Lastly, FGDs are inherently limited when in comes to generalisability based on the small number of participants involved.

For further detail on limitations, refer to Annex 1.

5. FINDINGS

In this main report we present the global findings under thematic analysis, incorporating data from the survey and the focus group discussions in an integrated way. Analysis from the survey is presented alongside significant and interesting trends, and variations between the five participating countries, emerging from the qualitative data.

Due to the its nuanced nature, the different aspects of leadership were not captured in the survey. Therefore, sections 5.2 - 5.3 are centred on findings from the focus group discussions in the sub-set of five countries to give substance to the concept of leadership before moving into what the barriers and enablers to leadership are.

5.1 Leadership aspirations of girls and young women

At the outset it was important to establish whether girls and young women actually want to assume leadership roles. Significantly, it was found that 76.3% of them do.

The survey measured girls and young women's aspirations for leadership in their careers, in politics, and in the household. Overall, a large majority of respondents (59.3%) say they would like to be a leader in their career or job. This high rate of career leadership aspiration is encouraging for moving more women into leadership positions in the workplace. Girls and young women have a steep drop-off when it comes to aspiration for political leadership on a national or local level. Only one-in-five girls and young women say they would like to be a leader in their country (20.6%) or their community (19.3%). This means that a major barrier to advancing women's political leadership is that girls' and young women are not seeking leadership positions. When it comes to leadership within their family, only 22.5% of girls and young women aspire to this.

Table 4: Leadership aspirations

Domain	Percentage	(n)
Career or Job	59.3%	5,972
Country	20.6%	2,078
Community	19.3%	1,994
Family	22.5%	2,260

Alongside this finding is that the number one reason to pursue leadership is to affect change. This is discussed in detail later in the report, but it is important to point out that girls and young women have not identified power or increasing their social status as a motivator for becoming a leader.

5.1.1 Leadership Aspirations by Background

Aspirations to be a workplace leader decreases with age but increases with education. Two-thirds (67.1%) of girls who have gone to tertiary education say they want to be a leader in their workplace compared to 58.4% of those who completed high school, 42.4% of those who completed primary school, and 31.6% of girls who have not completed any schooling.

These findings also fit with findings from the qualitative data that strongly suggest girls' aspirations decreased with age, and if and once they enter the adult world:

"I went to a girl's high school and a girl's university, where all the students were girls. There I took a position of a leader without any hesitation. Girls were very positive and powerful in those communities. At that time, I thought that the future would be bright. However, I started working, I found that gender problems are deeply rooted. Most of the leaders are men. There is a woman who is an assistant manager in my company. But she is disliked by her colleagues. They think she is too self-assertive." – Young woman, aged 18-24, Japan

Study respondents were asked to self-identify their level of education, jobs and money (referred to throughout this report as 'social standing'. This was done on a scale ranging from self-identified high levels of education, jobs and money through to midpoint and low levels. 62.3 % of girls and young women who self-identify as having high levels of education, jobs or wealth said they wanted to be a leader in the workplace. This figure was slightly higher than girls and young women who self-assessed themselves at the midpoint (60.6%), and also higher for those who self-assessed at the bottom point. Girls and young women who are not married (60.7%) are significantly more likely to say they want to be a leader in their job or workplace than girls or young women who are married (50.3%).

In terms of aspiring to a leadership position in one's country, this decreases with age, does not vary by level of formal education reached, and increases with marriage. Girls and young women who selfidentified as having high levels education, jobs or wealth (29.5%) are far more likely to aspire to be a leader in their country than girls in the middle (18.8%) or bottom (14.4%). Girls and young women who are married are more likely to want to be a leader in their country than girls who are not (28.0% compared to 20.3%). Again, the reasons behind these findings are not available from the data and were not specifically investigated in the study. In addition, it is important to point out that because the survey captured the voices of 25-year-olds, albeit a very small sample (n=317), it appears that at 25 aspirations start to increase again. However, arguably, the sample size is too small to draw reliable conclusions from and should be discarded.

Aspiration for community leadership does not vary by education or marital status, but girls and young women who self – identified as having of higher education, jobs and wealth (21.8%) and middle (19.5%) are more likely to aspire to this than girls and young women who self-assessed at the bottom point (15.3%). Also, aspirations for community leadership decline with age.

The desire to be a leader in the family is the same across age, education level, and social standing. However, girls who are married are significantly more likely to want to be a leader in their family than girls who are not married (28.9% compared to 21.0%). Similar to the above, there has not been further

exploration of these findings and these are issues that could be interrogated in further studies at a local rather than global level.

	Career		Country		Community		Family	
Age	%	(n)	%	(n)	%	(n)	%	(n)
15-year-olds	61.4%	721	25.7%	721	27.3%	721	23.0%	721
24-year-olds	57.2%	1124	21.0%	1124	18.3%	1124	24.6%	1124

Table 6: Leadership aspirations according to domain and level of education

	Career		Country		Community		Family	
Education	%	(n)	%	(n)	%	(n)	%	(n)
None	31.6%	62	23.5%	46	16.8%	33	24.5%	48
Primary	42.4%	484	21.3%	243	14.8%	169	16.8%	192
Secondary	58.4%	2,894	20.2%	998	20.5%	1,017	24.0%	1,188
Tertiary	67.1%	2,532	21.0%	791	19.2%	725	22.0%	832

Table 7: Leadership aspirations according to self-defined levels of education, jobs and money.

	Career		Country		Community		Family	
Social status	%	(n)	%	(n)	%	(n)	%	(n)
Towards the Bottom	51.0%	885	14.4%	249	15.3%	265	20.2%	351
In the Middle	60.6%	3,549	18.8%	1,101	19.5%	1,142	23.3%	1,364
Towards the Top	62.3%	1,536	29.5%	728	21.8%	537	22.1%	544

Table 8: Leadership aspirations according to marital status

	Career		Country	/	Commu	unity	Family	
Social status	%	(n)	%	(n)	%	(n)	%	(n)
Not married	60.7%	5,015	20.3%	1,676	18.7%	1,548	21.0%	1,733
Married	50.3%	653	28.0%	364	21.7%	282	28.9%	376

5.1.2 Leadership Aspirations by Region

The leadership aspirations of girls and young women were also analysed across geographical regions. Girls and young women in Latin America are the most likely to want to be a leader in their career (70.2%), followed by those in Asia (64.3%), North American (60.9%), Europe (60.5%), and West & Central Africa (56.5%). About one-third (37.5%) of girls and young women in East & Southern Africa want to be a leader in their career or job. These remarkably high rates of interest in job leadership indicate that the global underrepresentation of women leaders in the workplace is not due to a lack of interest. It is also noteworthy that the regional representation of aspirations for leadership in terms of career or job stand at odds with the regional reality of women in senior leadership roles in business reflected in Table 2 above.

When it comes to wanting to be a leader in their country, nearly half of girls in West & Central Africa (46.4%) report this-- far more than girls in other regions. One-in-three girls (31.4%) in East & Southern Africa want to be a leader in their country, while one-in-five want to be a leader in Latin American (20.3%) and Asian (17.0%) countries. Only a small percentage of girls in North America (7.9%) and Europe (5.8%) want to be leaders in their country.

In terms of being a leader in their community, girls in West & Central Africa (29.7%) are the most likely to report this, followed by girls in East & Southern Africa (24.8%), North America (23.7%), Asia (19.4%), and Latin America (16.4%). Far fewer girls say they want to be community leaders in the European countries in our study (8.0%).

One-third of girls in West & Central Africa (34.4%) and North America (30.2%) say they want to be a leader in their family, while one-in-five girls in Latin America (22.3%) and Asia (19.5%) report the same. Fewer girls in Europe (16.7%) and East & Southern Africa (16.4%) say they aspire to be a leader in their family.

	Career		Country	/	Commu	unity	Family	
Region	%	(n)	%	(n)	%	(n)	%	(n)
West & Central Africa	56.5%	848	46.4%	696	29.7%	446	34.4%	516
East & Southern Africa	37.5%	522	31.4%	437	24.8%	346	16.4%	228
Asia	64.3%	1,364	17.0%	360	19.4%	412	19.5%	414
Europe	60.5%	1,242	5.8%	120	8.0%	165	16.7%	343
North America	60.9%	705	7.9%	91	23.7%	274	30.2%	349
Latin America	70.2%	1,291	20.3%	374	16.4%	301	22.3%	410

Table 9: Leadership aspirations according to region

5.1.3 Leadership Aspirations by Country Income Classification

In addition to geographic analysis, girls' and young women's leadership aspirations were also analysed according to high-, middle-, and low-income country classifications. About half of girls in low-income countries (47.4%) aspire to be a leader in their career or work, while 72.7% of girls in middle-income countries aspire to this. Over half of girls in high-income countries (56.4%) say they want to be a leader in their career.

Girls in low-income countries (39.2%) have the highest rates of aspiring to be a leader in their country compared to middle-income (19.6%) and high-income (7.3%) countries. A similar pattern is found with community leadership. Girls from low-income countries (27.4%) are more likely than girls from middle-income (18.1%) or high-income (14.2%) countries to aspire to be community leaders. Girls in low-income countries (25.7%) are also more likely than girls in middle-income (23.0%) and upper-income (19.5%) countries to report that they aspire to be a leader in their family.

The above findings suggest that girls and young women from lower income countries have greater leadership aspirations all round (except in the workplace), much greater than girls in high income countries. Understanding why these patterns emerge from the analysis of the data according to country income levels would be important in order to understand the more nuanced enablers, barriers and opportunities relating to leadership for girls and young women in these territories.

	Career		Country	/	Commu	unity	Family	
Income level	%	(n)	%	(n)	%	(n)	%	(n)
Low Income	47.4%	1,370	39.2%	1133	27.4%	792	25.7%	744
Medium Income	72.7%	2,489	19.6%	672	18.1%	619	23.0%	787
High Income	56.4%	2,113	7.3%	273	14.2%	533	19.5%	729

Table 10: Leadership aspirations according to country income level

5.1.4 Predictors and deterrents to leadership aspirations

Analysis from the survey provided valuable insights about predictors and deterrents to girls' and young women's leadership aspirations in relation to her family, community, career and country. These findings demonstrate the role that various factors play such as age, perceptions of gender discrimination, education and leadership experience. The insights are important for understanding how different factors and circumstances combine to influence girls and young women's perceptions of and engagement with leadership. What emerges below are findings and contradictions that may be explained by further analysis at an in-depth country level (which was not within the scope of this report) and additional comparative studies, but please note that no causal relationship is meant to be inferred between the different variables.

Factors that discourage girls and young women's leadership ambitions

The factors that lower aspirations for a leadership position in the workplace:

- Age: As girls get older, their aspiration to be a leader in the workplace declines.
- *Perceptions of Sexism*: The more a girl or young woman believes women leaders have to work harder for the same respect as men leaders, the lower her aspiration for a leadership position in the workplace.
- *Perceptions of Leaders and Mothers*: The more a girl or young woman believes that women leaders make bad mothers, the less she aspires to be a leader in her job.

The factors that lower girls' aspirations for a leadership position in their country:

- Age: As girls get older, their aspiration to be a leader in their country declines.
- *Perceptions of Leaders and Mothers*: The more a girl or young woman believes that women leaders make bad mothers, the less she aspires to be a leader in her country.
- Unwanted Physical Contact: The more a girl or young woman believes women leaders experience unwanted physical contact, the less likely she is to aspire to be a leader in her country.

The factors that lower aspirations for a leadership position in their community:

- Age: As girls get older, their aspiration to be a leader in their community declines.
- *Perceptions of Sexism:* Girls and young woman who believe that women leaders are treated less well because of their gender are less likely to aspire to being leaders in their community.

The factors that lower girls' aspirations for a leadership position in their family:

- *Marriage*: Girls and young women who are married are more likely to want to be a leader in their family than girls who are not married.
- *Perceptions of Sexism*: The more a girl or young woman believes women leaders have to work harder for the same respect as men leaders, the lower her aspiration for a leadership position in her family.
- *Perceptions of Leaders and Mothers*: The more a girl or young woman believes that women leaders make bad mothers, the less she aspires to be a leader in her family.

Factors that encourage girls' and young women's leadership aspirations

The factors that increase aspirations for a leadership position in the workplace:

- *Education*: The higher the level of education level, the higher the aspiration for a leadership position in the workplace.
- Self-identified levels of education, jobs and wealth: Girls and young women with higher levels are more likely to aspire to a workplace leadership position.
- *Marriage*: Girls and young women who are *not* married are more likely to aspire to a leadership position in the workplace.
- *Leadership Experience*: The more leadership experience a girl or young woman has, the more likely she is to want to be a leader in her career or job.
- *Encouragement*: The greater the encouragement a girl or young woman receives to be a leader, the greater the likelihood she aspires to be a leader in the workplace.
- *Role Models*: Girls and young women with more women leaders as role models in their community and in media are more likely to aspire to leadership in their job.

Below are the factors that increase girls' and young women's aspirations for a **leadership position in their country**:

- Self-identified levels of education, jobs and wealth: Girls with higher social standing are more likely to aspire to a leadership position in their country.
- *Marriage*: Girls who are married are more likely to aspire to a leadership position in their country than girls who are not married.
- Leadership Experience: The more leadership experience a girl has, the more likely she is to want to be a leader in her country.
- *Encouragement*: The greater the encouragement a girl receives to be a leader, the greater the likelihood she aspires to be a leader in her country.
- *Role Models*: Girls with more women leaders as role models in their community and in media are more likely to aspire to a leadership position in their country.

These factors encourage girls' and young women's aspirations for a **leadership position in their community**:

- Self-defined levels of education, jobs and wealth: Girls and young women with high levels are more likely to aspire to a leadership position in their community.
- *Leadership Experience*: The more leadership experience a girl or young woman has, the more likely she is to want to be a leader in her community.
- *Encouragement*: The more the encouragement a girl or young woman receives to be a leader, the greater the likelihood she aspires to be a leader in her community.
- *Role Models*: Girls and young women with women leaders as role models in their community and in media are more likely to aspire to a leadership position in their community.

Here is the one significant factor out of all the factors examined that increases girls' and young women's aspirations for a **leadership position in their family**:

• *Role Models*: Girls and young women with women leaders as role models in their community are more likely to aspire to a leadership position in their family.

5.2 The local verses global nature of leadership

In discussing leadership with the girls and young women in the focus group discussions, there was a deliberate decision not to present them with a definition of leadership in order to surface an understanding of how girls and young women themselves defined leadership in their own contexts. What emerged were interesting distinctions between the global, national and local (national or community) nature of leadership. Overwhelmingly across all five countries participating in focus group discussions, the fundamental characteristics, qualities and motivations identified were similar for both global or local leaders. In response to the direct question 'is there a difference between global and local leaders?' girls and young women said that the only main differences are that of knowledge, responsibility and influence – with global leaders having a wider knowledge, influence and level of responsibility than local leaders.

Participants discussed particular images and individuals that they associate with 'leaders' and the responses were a mixture of global, national and community leaders. Interestingly, more women than men were identified by girls and young women in response to this exercise (although this may have been because female leadership was the primary subject of the focus group discussion).

"A local leader has knowledge of local issues only. They all work for the society or the country. National or international leaders have knowledge of the national and international issues." – Girl, aged 15-17, India

"Leadership is an ability to lead, set a good example, and give the best of oneself to serve people: the difference is not very interesting [...] there is not much difference because it's only about the levels which are not the same. Nothing can change the fact of being a leader and we can become one in several areas; can be a worldwide leader who leads several people while a community or family leader leads very few people but they both have the same role and that is to be promoted." – Young woman, aged 18-20, Senegal

"I think there is no difference [between local and global] because they all have the same goals that is to move their group forward." – Young woman, aged 18-24, Senegal

"Global leaders and community leaders are the same because all lead the people." – Young woman, aged 21-24, South Sudan

Throughout the focus group activities and discussion, participants interpreted 'leadership' within their own contexts. Whilst all five countries agreed there were no significant differences between global and local leaders when the question was posed directly, when describing the characteristics and qualities of young female leadership during the activities, there were notable differences. Participants in Senegal, India, South Sudan and the Dominican Republic veered towards a local and community understanding of leadership (with Senegal also describing a national context), whereas generally participants from Japan described a more global interpretation of leadership:

"The leader's will to achieve the goal in the end makes others follow the leader and contribute to the world." – Young woman, aged 21-24, Japan

We suggest that the findings presented throughout this report in relation to the sub-set of five countries where the focus group discussions were conducted should be interpreted in the context of these regional differences described above. Nonetheless, there are nuances at the individual level between countries and these should be seen as indicative of the different perspectives that girls and young women have more generally.

5.3 Characteristics and qualities of leadership

Overall, the findings from the qualitative data demonstrate that girls and young women identify with the characteristics of leadership that emphasise community, shared power and collective decision making – all in the pursuit of social justice and change.

The body mapping activity and follow up questions employed in the focus group discussions asked girls and young women to discuss and identify the qualities and characteristics of a non-specific 'young female leader'. In most focus group discussions this was interpreted by participants as being *ideal* characteristics

and qualities of a young female leader as opposed to ones that were attributed to actual leaders. Listed in order of prevalence, the four most common characteristics and qualities identified by girls and young women were:

- Helping and developing their community, making change
- Working to advance gender equality and women's and girls' rights
- Kindness, fairness, consideration and compassion
- A way with words.

Each is discussed in detail below.

5.3.1 Driving change in the community

Leadership was seen by the girls and young women as being inextricably linked to their community. By far the most cited characteristics of leadership fell under the category of helping, developing and advancing one's community and country.

"She sees her community as the best, in the future it will grow with more education and respect, she sees progress for us." – Young woman, aged 18-22, Dominican Republic

"A good leader will always think about her people." – Girl, aged 15-17, South Sudan

"I think that a woman leader should see a community with its problems, but we should also all work together and she should advise us so that we improve, for the community to progress and overcome its problems, by finding what we need." – Girl, aged 15, Dominican Republic

These qualities included being able to listen to, understand and relate to the community, including listening and respecting differing opinions; identifying and responding to community need, giving advice and guidance and championing and campaigning on behalf of the community. These findings support a type of collaborative leadership in terms of an emphasis on shared, collective power, authority and decision-making in pursuit of social, political, economic and cultural equality.⁶²

"If the leader has a strong vision it's a good thing to pursue it. But if you go headlong into it without listening to others, no one could follow such a leader. If a leader wants to get the members to cooperate, she needs to care for and listen to others and take their opinions into consideration before taking action." – Girl, aged 15-17, Japan

"A leader should give good advice. Her words should go with what she defends and advocates." – Young woman, aged 18-19, Senegal

"She has to know what the community needs, the problems we have here, she has to speak to the people, I don't know, she should speak to them to find out what their needs are, so she can try and get help, find solutions to the problems." – Young woman, aged 15-21, Dominican Republic

The second element identified by girls and young women in this category was the ability of leaders to be change-makers. Overwhelmingly across all five countries, participants thought that young female leaders should be change-makers within communities and identified areas of change specific to their own contexts. In Japan, change tended to be phrased as wider social change rather than community change. Across all five countries, the most common areas in which participants thought a young female leader should engage and strive for change were:

(i) Peace, unity, stability: Across all five countries the notion of a young female leader striving to bring peace and unity to her community emerged, to varying degrees. This was particularly prevalent in South Sudan, the only conflict and humanitarian context in this research, where there were over twice as many mentions of peace than in the other countries.

"She shares the message of peace, she speaks out against the problem facing the community, she speaks of conflict problem, she speaks of human rights as a leader." – Young woman, aged 18-20, South Sudan

"Whenever she gets up, she has to go for peace (Salam), that is, to be worthy of not spreading terror." – Young woman, aged 18-20, Senegal

(ii) Education and employment: (improving and advancing opportunities for) education and employment was mentioned in every country except Japan and was particularly important in India and South Sudan.

"She wants to give free education to all the children whether girl or boy and she wants to work for the unemployment of the youth of her community." – Girl, aged 15-17, India

"She helps us to study, not to miss out on opportunities, she is always by our side and when we're losing interest and are no longer so motivated, then she approaches us and talks to us so that we don't leave school, and she tells us that it's an opportunity we shouldn't miss, she advises us not to leave school, because if we don't get qualifications we won't be able to succeed and be a little bit less poor." – Young woman, aged 18-22, Dominican Republic

(iv) Environment and natural resources: improving the environment in her community, from addressing littering through to ensuring access to clean water and electricity, was particularly prominent in India, where environmental concerns were mentioned eight times more than they were mentioned in any of the other five countries. We do not have the data to answer why this is so, but we can speculate that the regions in which Plan works in India have environmental problems that are of such significance to the everyday realities of the participants in the FGDs that a finding of this scale is possible.

"A young female leader should take part in the cleanliness drive of her community" Girl, aged 15-17, India

"To resolve the community's problems, water, electricity, rubbish, to stop people from throwing rubbish in the street, to organise for us to have a clean and organised community, the woman leader works for that." – Young woman, aged 15-18, Dominican Republic

(v) Social equality and ending discrimination: the themes of treating others equally, identifying and meeting the needs of the most vulnerable and marginalised in society, and ending discrimination based on individual characteristics including gender, ethnicity, social standing, economic status, caste, region and disability, were mentioned frequently in three out of five countries:

"A women young leader needs to listen to the poorest community at first." - Girl, aged 15-17, India

"She sees an equal society without discrimination. She wants to stop discrimination based on gender, disabilities, and race. This is her ideal future." – Girl, aged 15-17, Japan

(vi) Being able to identify with children and young people: girls and young women across the five countries called out the ability to connect with the young as a critical aspect of leadership. They said that leaders should engage with young people as the next generation and the future drivers of change.

"She should help others and advise young people, because she is young, so she is familiar with young people's problems and can therefore help them, guide them." – Girl, aged 15, Dominican Republic

"She can call the young generation and talk to them about leadership." – Young woman, aged 21-24, South Sudan

(vii) Crime and violence: addressing societal barriers and inhibitors was a key aspect of good leadership: addressing crime and violence in community and society was mentioned mostly in the Dominican Republic. In this context, it was particularly in relation to drugs.

"She works with people in the community and dreams that crime will be eliminated in the future, all the problems with young people who are doing bad things, who are on the wrong path." – Young woman, aged 15-21, Dominican Republic

"She uses her hands to express affection towards people, to children, to elderly people and she also protects the community by telling young men to behave well, not to become criminals and not to harm people in the community." – Young woman, aged 15-18, Dominican Republic

Box 3: Further leadership characteristics associated with helping and developing the community Other characteristics, mentioned less frequently, were also entwined with helping and developing the community. These included:

(a) **Being educated and knowledgeable**: whilst formal education and academic schooling was perceived as important – particularly in Japan – more commonly, education was perceived as important not for its own sake but for its benefit to the community.

A young female leader should be educated, she should have knowledge of her community, her rights and duties. She should be aware of legal aspects of such." Young woman, aged 18-20, India

Knowledge relevant to the community – particularly knowledge of community culture, politics, policy and legislation – was cited as being important more often than formal education.

"Young women leader should have a knowledge of people/community, village, caste, profiles of community, structure of workplace, government schemes, should know how to make strategy for the progress." Girl, aged 15-17, India

Similarly, education and knowledge gained from international travel and experience was viewed as most useful in relation to one's society back home. A young female leader should also share and impart that knowledge to her community.

"Have knowledge of the economic, social and political approach of the world." Young woman, aged 17-19, Senegal

"She has been in other countries and knows how people are leaders." Young woman, aged 18-20, South Sudan

(b) **Clarity of vision, ambition and positivity:** the girls and young women saw young female leaders as being ambitious on behalf their communities and showing determination and positivity in working towards a clear vision of the future of their communities.

"I think that the woman leader has to see the future in a different way as other people do, because that's why she is a leader, to guide and advise other people on what we have to do to make our dreams come true." Young woman, aged 18-22, Dominican Republic

"I think she has always thought big. She has never accepted things as they are and she has always aspired to achieve more and more. She was not complacent and I think that helped her." Young woman, aged 15-18, Dominican Republic

"Have the vision of a better world. Make good forecasts, plans for the future must be the light of change, always project and inspire hope." Young woman, aged 18-19,Senegal

(c) **Reason, judgment and problem-solving:** This included not just striving to resolve problems in the community but exercising sound judgement, critically analysing situations and information and being able to resolve conflict.

"...But it's difficult to satisfy everybody. Now I want to be a leader who can listen to and respect every opinion, and yet not give into others, and provide a new solution." Girl, aged 15-17, Japan

The study participants identified the critical elements of insight and problem-solving as being part of the make-up of a good leader: "Young female leader can inform about policies to her community, she should talk about issues and problems related to her community with community people. She can take forward problem related to school, college and her community to higher authorities. She can make people aware of their rights." Young woman, aged 21-24, India

5.3.2 Advancing gender equality and women's and girls' rights

In all five countries, participants thought that a young female leader should actively prioritise and promote gender equality and the issues that affect women and girls in their country and/or community. This involved providing and promoting opportunities for girls who have never received opportunities before, including education and financial empowerment, encouraging women to speak out, and creating a gender-friendly environment and spaces. Advancing gender equality was strongly connected to vision, again linking to more collaborative ideas about leadership.

Often, advancing gender equality was phrased in very general terms of ending all forms of gender-based discrimination and challenging gender norms: "*the society where everyone is respected as a human regardless of gender*" (South Sudan). More specifically, young women identified a number of areas where a young female leader should strive for change. These are discussed as barriers to leadership in section 5.5 under barriers to leadership.

5.3.3 Kindness, fairness, consideration and compassion

Interpersonal skills and qualities, including kindness, fairness, consideration, compassion and empathy, emerged as ideal characteristics of female leadership, far more than recognised leadership traits such power, status or other leadership skills such as management and organization. People skills and human decency were also mentioned far more frequently than success, personal ambition, determination, courage and bravery. It is unclear whether the girls and young women identified characteristics of leadership purposefully or because they themselves have been brought up to believe that these are the only characteristics of leadership that girls and young women can exhibit. That is not to say that characteristics such as determination and courage were not mentioned at all, but they were mentioned far less frequently.

"She is friendly and warm, that's why she helps everyone, mainly children and elderly people, she is always positive, she is also very calm, she has a good character and she doesn't fight with anyone and she empathises with others." – Young woman, aged 15-21, Dominican Republic

"She will keep an understanding, welcoming and loving behaviour. She will listen to others first and would support everyone." – Young woman, aged 18-20, India

5.3.4 Communication skills

Communication skills, specifically choosing and using the right words to influence, engage, inspire, persuade and motivate those around you, were frequently mentioned across all five countries. This also closely tied in with how a leader went about community and societal development and achieving social change.

"Her messages are reassuring words; that's why they motivate us, they help us, and she says that we have to try to succeed, that we have to get qualified so that the community progresses and develops." – Young woman, aged 15-21, Dominican Republic

"Be yourself' and 'It's alright to show weakness'. These two are the most impactive comments I've got from a leader. They are quite memorable because they came from a female. It's not that I would always need to hear those from leaders, but I think it'd be nice to have a leader that would say something like that." – Young woman, aged 21-24, Japan

5.4 Motivation to become leaders

Unsurprisingly, our findings on the key motivations and enablers of leadership closely mirror our findings on the key characteristics of young female leadership discussed in the section above. Overwhelmingly, the most commonly perceived motivation for any young woman to become a leader, and the most common response to the question of 'what would you do if you were a leader?' was to affect change. Across all five countries, the most common types of change that girls and young women wanted to affect were:

Changing the status quo, particularly in regard to social change, including addressing the following issues:

- Education
- Poverty
- Child abuse, exploitation and labour

There were country variations: Education was by far the most popular response in Japan. Poverty was a common response in Japan, India and South Sudan. Japanese respondents spoke more of global and national poverty, whereas in India and South Sudan poverty was described in local contexts. Ending child abuse and exploitation was a common response in India. Often, participants thought change was motivated by personal stories and experience of hardship, discrimination and resilience.

A large part of changing the world and status quo was improving the lives of girls and young women. This further highlights the commitment that a young female leader is perceived to have to advancing gender equality. Specifically, a key perceived motivation for young women to become leaders was to change gender norms and practices. The following areas emerged:

- Addressing gender-based violence
- Ending forced and early marriage
- Build a community of women leaders

It is unclear whether the girls and young women identified their leadership motivations purposefully or because they themselves have been brought up to believe that these are the types of change that they can affect as girls and young women. That is not to say that changes to other domains such as finance and the economy were not identified but this occurred far less frequently than social change of the nature identified above.

5.5 Barriers to leadership

Whilst the qualitative data found some barriers and deterrents to leadership that girls and young women described as being non-gender or age specific, such as responsibility, confidence and criticism, by far the most prevalent and significant barriers to leadership were gender-based barriers. In this section of the report the findings on gender-specific barriers to female leadership, in both the survey and FGDs, are discussed.

5.5.1 Becoming a leader is harder for women

Girls and young women in the survey were asked a series of questions to measure their perceptions of sexism as it pertains to leadership. In general, respondents thought that women leaders are held to a different standard than male leaders. A majority (59.7%) of respondents agreed or strongly agreed that women in leadership have to work harder than men in leadership to be respected, while an overwhelming 94.0% believe that women in leadership are treated less well because of their gender – findings which cut across age, education, job and wealth level, and marital status.

Table 11: Responses to statement: women in leadership have to work harder than men inleadership to be respected

	Percentage	(n)
Strongly disagree	10.5%	1,060
Disagree	16.1%	1,618
Undecided	13.7%	1,383
Agree	39.2%	3,941
Strongly agree	20.5%	2,059

 Table 12: Responses to statement: women in leadership are treated less well because of their gender

	Percentage	(n)
Never	6.0%	608
Rarely	16.2%	1,627
Sometimes	42.0%	4,221
Very often	30.3%	3,050
Always	5.5%	553

Perceptions of sexism faced by women in leadership vary considerably by region. Respondents from Europe and North America were more likely than those from other regions to agree that women in leadership are treated less well because of their gender, and that they experience harassment. Analysis by country income level correlates with this, as those from high income countries were also more likely to agree to these statements than those from middle- or low-income countries.

 Table 13: Perception of women being treated less well because of their gender rarely, sometimes, very often or always / by region

Region	Percentage	(n)
West & Central Africa	85.3%	1,279
East & South Africa	90.5%	1,260
Asia	93.2%	1,978
Europe	98.5%	2,021
North America	98.4%	1,139
Latin America	96.7%	1,779

Table 14: Perception of women being treated less well because of their gender rarely, sometimes,very often or always / by country income

Country Income	Percentage	(n)
Low Income	87.8%	2,539
Medium Income	94.8%	3,246
High Income	98.0%	3,671

In the FGDs, girls and young women also articulated that becoming a leader is significantly harder for females because of a lack of opportunities and because any woman who does become a leader is likely

to face constant discrimination and criticism and a lack of support from those around her. This perception was itself a barrier and a deterrent.

"In Japan, there is still prejudice and men are more likely to become a leader and reach higher rank. Many say "the nail that sticks up gets hammered down". Everyone should be eligible to pursue higher rank, but if it's a girl who has a dream or ambition to become a leader, people start criticizing. It's true of any woman who is working to become a leader." – Girl, aged 15-17, Japan

"Our society is a male dominant society, so the girls don't get a chance to come forward and orthodox thinking prevents girls from coming forward for leadership." – Girl, aged 15-17, India

"Even in the work environment, she is not well received, because people think that a woman leader is interfering." – Young woman, aged 17-21, Dominican Republic

"Some time a female leader may not be liked by everyone [....] she may be ignored, laughed at and mocked. She may also hear negative talk about herself." – Young woman, aged 18-20, South Sudan

Levels of education play an important part in identifying discrimination in survey responses: young women who had completed any level of schooling were even more likely to believe that women are treated less well due to gender than girls who have not completed schooling – see Table 15.

 Table 15: Perception of women being treated less well because of their gender according to level of education

Education	Percentage	(n)
None	85.7%	168
Primary	94.0%	1,072
Secondary	94.2%	4,665
Tertiary Education	94.1%	3,551

The role of education in relation to leadership also emerged from the FGDs where girls and young women noted that stopping education reduced the chances of being able to take up a leadership role in later life and that family are key in either enabling education or reinforcing gendered stereotypes in education.

"Even I am studying in the 2nd year of my degree. People of my community are against my education; they always told my father to stop sending me for education and plan my marriage soon. But my father supports me for my education. So, people always demotivate a young female leader and tell them to stay away from their children as they are afraid a young female leader can 'spoil' their child." – Young woman, aged 18-20, India

5.5.2 Harassment and violence

92.9% of the girls and young women believe that women in leadership experience harassment (phrased as "unwanted physical contact"). Taken together, these findings suggest that girls see leadership as a negative, hostile place for women. Though it may or may not represent the reality of the workplace, these perceptions can act as a strong deterrent to pursuing leadership positions.

Table 16: Responses to question: women in leadership receive unwanted physical contact

Response	Percentage	(n)
Never	7.1%	710

Rarely	19.4%	1,952
Sometimes	42.3%	4,258
Very often	26.1%	2,627
Always	5.1%	510

Table 17: Perception of women experiencing unwanted physical contact rarely, sometimes, very often or always / by region

Region	Percentage	(n)
West & Central Africa	86.4%	1,296
East & South Africa	92.0%	1,282
Asia	90.9%	1,929
Europe	98.6%	2,023
North America	99.0%	1,146
Latin America	91.2%	1,678

 Table 18: Perception of women experiencing unwanted physical contact rarely, sometimes, very often or always / by income country

Country Income	Percentage	(n)
Low Income	89.1%	2,578
Medium Income	91.5%	3,132
High Income	97.3%	3,644

Girls and young women with tertiary (93.1%), secondary (93.0%), and primary school (94.0%) education are also significantly more likely to think women leaders face unwanted physical contact than girls with no schooling (83.2%).

 Table 19: Perception of unwanted physical contact rarely, sometimes, very often or always according to level education

Education	Percentage	(n)
None	83.2%	1,63
Primary	94.0%	1,073
Secondary	93.0%	4,605
Tertiary	93.1%	3,513

In the FGDs girls and young women also described both gender-based violence against women and girls generally, and violence likely to befall a woman who becomes a leader. This was most commonly described by participants in South Sudan but also mentioned in India.

"Sometimes there are violence against ladies when they want to become leaders, they will see you nothing in front of them because of your gender." – Young woman, aged 18-20, South Sudan

"Many times female leader have to face problems in travelling alone for official purposes." – Young woman, aged 21-24, India

"People say atmosphere is not safe for girls to work, so they don't allow girls to go out for work. Society opposes girls to become leaders because if one girl has done something wrong then society thinks all girls are bad and so they should not be allowed to go out of their houses." – Young woman, aged 18-20, India

It is interesting to note from the above that girls and young women view leadership as a negative, hostile place. However, this is in contrast to the way they themselves interpret leadership and this could be a way for them to overcome these barriers.

5.5.3 Gender stereotypes as an inhibitor of female leadership

In contrast to the above where external forces are working against female leadership, during the FGDs some of the characteristics of leadership were spoken about with inherent gender bias demonstrated by the girls and young women themselves. During the body mapping exercise, facilitators asked participants to assign characteristics to a 'young female leader'. This did not include asking about male leaders or gender differences between leaders specifically. Despite this, some of the characteristics mentioned by the girls and young women alluded to gendered norms and expectations of women and girls. This was particularly the case in South Sudan, India and the Dominican Republic where characteristics included:

- Humility and modesty
- Soft-spoken and "silent most of the times in case of non-agreement:" a young female leader is "more of an observer" and is "obedient"
- Needs to be good at domestic chores and motherhood
- Has correct morals and advices other young women on morality
- Dresses appropriately (including to avoid unwanted attention).

Whilst the above characteristics were by no means the most commonly described characteristics of female leadership, they highlight how harmful gender roles and stereotypes can be ingrained in girls and young women themselves from a very early age, therefore shaping their ideas of what women and girls can and should be.

"I think she sees a bright future. Women tend to think about environment and Sustainable future because she is more likely to be conscious about environmental contamination, because women use detergent at home when they do the washing." – Young woman, aged 18-24, Japan

"Men spend more time on business and women spend more time at home. Sometimes men are more logical and women are more emotional and emotion is required in some areas and logic is required in other areas." – Young woman, aged 21-24, Japan

The above quote is one of several examples we found where young women themselves, despite wholeheartedly agreeing that women can and should be leaders, appeared to buy into very stereotypical ideas about gender roles and characteristics.

Some FGD participants believed that behaving in a more 'feminine' way could lead to positive results. There were instances where participants thought that women were more able to address suffering and discrimination, not because of innate qualities they possessed as women, but as a result of experiencing suffering and discrimination themselves which meant they could better relate to others and identify necessary change.

"... because men think differently compared to women, they are kind of tougher, women are more sensitive and that's why they can help people more." – Young woman, aged 15-18, Dominican Republic

"I don't mean to say that we should have the experience of being discriminated against, but if we had such experience even if by chance, such experience will make us act in a way not to treat people in the same way. At the same time, it will also make us think about the feeling and the reasons of people who discriminate against others." – Young woman, aged 18-24, Japan

5.5.4 Balancing leadership with family or home life

The findings in relation to this issue signal a dichotomy. While, encouragingly, girls and young women in the survey overwhelmingly rejected the notion that women in leadership cannot be leaders and good mothers (81.1% overall), nonetheless, in the FGDs they recognised societal bias and barriers against female leaders also being good mothers.

Table 20: Women	in leadership ca	nnot be good mothers	according to region
	in rouder onlip ou	anior so good motiono	

Region	Percentage	(n)
West & Central Africa	6.9%	103
East & South Africa	6.6%	92
Asia	3.2%	68
Europe	3.7%	76
North America	2.0%	23
Latin America	4.7%	87

Table 21: Women in leadership cannot be good mothers according to country income

Country Income	Percentage	(n)
Low Income	6.7%	195
Medium Income	4.3%	147
High Income	2.9%	107

Table 22: Women in leadership cannot be good mothers according to age

Age	Percentage	(n)
15 – 20	4.5%	241
21 – 25	4.4%	208

Table 23: Women in leadership cannot be good mothers according to education

Education	Percentage	(n)
None	9.2%	18
Primary	4.6%	53
Secondary	3.9%	195
Tertiary	4.8%	183

Table 24: Women in leadership cannot be good mothers according to social standing

Social Standing	Percentage	(n)
Towards the Bottom	3.9%	68
In the Middle	3.9%	226
Towards the Top	6.3%	155

Table 25: Women in leadership cannot be good mothers according to marital status

Marital Status	Percentage	(n)
Not Married	8.3%	95
Married	4.0%	327

In the FGDs, girls and young women reported deeply ingrained ideas about gender roles in their communities and societies, often in terms of their role in the home and family:

"Not only will women have the same considerations as men because I find it unacceptable that women's place is only at home. Women should be educated and participating in the change of their country." - Young woman, aged 18-24, Senegal

"Even my boyfriend regards it natural for girls to take care of the house, although we study the same amount. Of course, I do not think everyone thinks that way, but I wish that we could do things equally. If I was a housewife, I would do the household chores, but I wonder why I would be the only one to have more burden even though I study as much as my boyfriend." – Young woman, aged 21-24, Japan

"Some women face challenges of becoming leaders because they have kids at home." – Girl, aged 15-17, South Sudan

In South Sudan and India, participants flagged that girls' and women's mobility is often restricted, and they were often confined to the home:

"Women have more challenges because men do not want their women to go for work." – Young woman, aged 21-24, South Sudan

Interestingly - and linked to the point about ingrained gender stereotypes in section 5.5.2 above - in the survey the girls and young women who are already married are less likely to think that women can be leaders and good mothers than those who are not married (70.1% and 82.2% respectively).

5.5.5 Early and forced child marriage

In the FGDs, in India and South Sudan, it emerged that lack of education and lack of support from family were closely connected to child, early and forced marriage and early pregnancy. The girls and young women talked about child, early and forced marriage as alternatives to leadership rather than being able to co-exist or be compatible with leadership opportunities. Likewise, in the Dominican Republic teenage pregnancy was frequently cited as the alternative to education. The girls and young women suggested that education was one route to leadership and thus, by implication pregnancy would negatively impact on leadership opportunities.

"Women are taken to the villages and involve in early marriage and don't continue with education." - Young woman, aged 18-20, South Sudan

"A leader should prevent abuse against young people and women; forced and early marriage..." - Young woman, aged 18-24, Senegal

"If you want to become a leader, your parents marry you off because they think there is no money in leadership." - Girl, aged 15-17, South Sudan

5.6 Enablers for leadership

Between the survey and FGDs a range of internal and external enabling factors emerged which girls and young women saw as contributing to leadership aspirations and actual experiences of leadership.

5.6.1 Young women have confidence to lead

Overall, the survey found that young women exhibit high rates of confidence in their ability to lead, with 62% reporting that they are "confident" or "very confident" in their leadership abilities. Only 4.7% reporting not being at all confident. This means that the underrepresentation of women in leadership positions across the globe is not due to a lack of confidence in leadership abilities. Other key findings mentioned above point to the deterrents to leadership. What is unclear is the relationship between confidence, ambition and deterrents and for this to be meaningful further research at national or community level is needed.

As with their aspiration to leadership positions, confidence in leadership abilities increases with education and social standing. Interestingly, whilst aspirations decline with age, confidence in ability to lead increases with age (see table 13). Young women aged 21-25 years old (36.0%) are more likely to say they have high confidence in their leadership abilities than girls who are 15-20 years old (29.5%).

	Percentage	(n)
Not at all confident	4.7%	470
A little confident	17.9%	1,798
Neutral	15.5%	1,558
Somewhat confident	29.5%	2,967
Very confident	32.5%	3,271

Table 26: How confident are you in your ability to lead?

Table 27: Girls and young women who are "very confident" in their ability to lead according to age

Age	Percentage	(n)
15 – 20	29.5%	1,589
21 – 25	36.0%	1,682

Girls and young women who have completed tertiary education (39.4%) are more confident in their leadership abilities than girls who completed secondary (29.7%), primary school (22.4%), or no schooling (28.6%). Likewise, girls and young women with who have self-identified as having higher educations, jobs and wealth (53.4%) are many times more confident in their leadership abilities than girls who are self-identified at the middle (27.5%) or lower (19.8%) points.

Table 28: Girls and young women who are "very confident" in their ability in lead according to education

Education	Percentage	(n)
None	28.6%	56
Primary	22.4%	256
Secondary	29.7%	1,472
Tertiary	39.4%	1,487

Table 29: Girls who are "very confident" in their ability to lead according to self-identified levels of education, jobs and wealth

Social Standing	Percentage	(n)
Towards the Bottom	19.8%	344
In the Middle	27.5%	1,610
Towards the Top	53.4%	1,316

In contrast to the findings on aspirations to leadership, young women who are married are more confident in their leadership abilities than young women who are not married (45.2% compared to 31.3%).

Table 30: Girls who are "very confident" in their ability to lead according to marital status

Marital Status	Percentage	(n)
Not Married	31.1%	2,571
Married	45.2%	587

There is significant variation by region, with girls and young women more likely to be very confident in East & South Africa (59.4%) and West & Central Africa (58.1%) than other regions. Young women from North America (20.7%) and Europe (11.1%) were the least likely to report high confidence in their leadership abilities. Similarly, girls and young women in low-income countries (51.9%) are far more likely to say they have high confidence in their leadership abilities than girls in middle-income (33.4%) and high-

income (14.7%) countries. This is an interesting finding. Why does confidence and aspiration decrease for those in the richest countries (when it increases for the richest within that country)? There is need for more investigation but the findings demonstrate how nuanced issues of leadership – both individual and contextual are – meaning generalisations in relation to this issue should be avoided.

Table 31: Girls who are "very confident" in their ability to lead according to region

Region	Percentage	(n)
West & Central Africa	58.1%	872
East & South Africa	59.4%	827
Asia	25.2%	534
Europe	11.1%	228
North America	20.7%	240
Latin America	31.0%	570

Table 32: Girls and young women who are "very confident" to lead by country income classification

Country Income	Percentage	(n)
Low Income	58.7%	1,699
Medium Income	31.9%	1,092
High Income	12.8%	480

5.6.2 Predictors and deterrents of confidence in leadership abilities

In previous sections the predictors and deterrents of aspirations were examined. In this section, analysis of the survey data highlights the factors that most increase and decrease girls' and young women's confidence in their ability to lead.

The factor that reduces girls' and young women's confidence in their leadership abilities:

• *Perceptions of Sexism.* The more a girl or young woman believes women leaders have to work harder for the same respect as men leaders, the lower her confidence in her leadership abilities.

The factors that increase girls' and young women's confidence in their leadership abilities:

- *Education*. Girls' and young women's confidence in their ability to lead improves as their educational level increases.
- Self-defined levels of education, jobs and wealth: Girls and young women who report higher levels of education, jobs and wealth have more confidence in their leadership abilities than girls and young women who report lower levels.
- *Marriage*: Girls and young women who are married have more confidence in their leadership abilities than girls who are not married.
- *Leadership Experience*: The more leadership experience a girl has, the more confidence she has in her leadership abilities.

• *Role Models*: Girls with women leaders as role models in their community and in media have higher confidence in their leadership abilities.

The survey findings related to marriage, for example, should be read with caution as understanding the local context is important to unpack the implications of the finding. Furthermore, in relation to the qualitative data, the FGDs did not directly ask girls and young women about their individual levels of confidence and therefore there is no qualitative data on confidence levels related to education, social or marital status.

5.6.3 Encouragement, support and influence

The vast majority (86.0%) of girls and young women in the study say they have been encouraged by family, friends, or teachers to take on a leadership role. This remains the same across age and marital status, but increases with education and increases with self-identified levels of education, jobs and wealth.

Table 33: Encouragement from friends, family and teachers according to region

Region	Percentage	(n)
West & Central Africa	81.5%	1223
East & South Africa	89.4%	1246
Asia	90.2%	1915
Europe	82.2%	1687
North America	88.9%	1028
Latin America	84.1%	1547

Table 34: Encouragement from friends, family and teachers according to income level

Country Income	Percentage	(n)
Low Income	85.3%	2469
Medium Income	88.8%	3040
High Income	83.7%	3137

Table 35: Encouragement from friends, family and teachers according to age

Age	Percentage	(n)
15 – 20	85.3%	4595
21 – 25	86.6%	4051
Table 36: Encouragement from friends, family and teachers according to level of education

Education	Percentage	(n)
None	69.6%	137
Primary	79.6%	908
Secondary	84.9%	4203
Tertiary	90.0%	3398

Table 37: Encouragement from friends, family and teachers according to self-defined levels of education, jobs and wealth.

Social Standing	Percentage	(n)
Towards the Bottom	77.2%	1339
In the Middle	86.7%	5078
Towards the Top	90.3%	2226

Table 38: Encouragement from friends, family and teachers according to marital status

Marital Standing	Percentage	(n)
Not Married	84.4%	965
Married	86.0%	7106

Young women with a tertiary education (90.0%) are far more likely to have received leadership encouragement than girls who completed secondary (84.9%), primary school (79.6%), or no schooling (69.9%). A similar pattern is found with self-identified levels of education, jobs and wealth. Girls and young women who identified as having higher levels (90.3%) receive more encouragement for their leadership than girls and young women who reported having middle (86.7%) or lower (77.2%) levels.

The FGDs also asked girls and young women about the people who had the most influence over their lives: the people who made decisions for them and the people who helped them make their own decisions. By a large margin, parents were, unsurprisingly, the ones who were most commonly cited by girls and young women as making decisions for their daughters, followed by siblings and young women themselves. In terms of people who help young women make decisions for themselves, parents were also the most common answer, followed by friends and peers, siblings and teachers. Overall, when girls and young women mentioned a specific parent, it appeared that they were more influenced by mothers than fathers.

In addition, family support was highlighted as critical to girls' and young women's potential to become leaders, as outlined in section 5.7 family support has the potential to exacerbate or counter negative stereotypes which might hold girls and young women back.

5.6.4 Role models

Participants in the FGDs were also asked about the people who inspire them – their role models. Again, parents were the most common response, followed by teachers and mentors, siblings and other family, peers and media celebrities. Two-thirds of girls in the survey (69.4%) say they have women leaders in their community whom they admire. An even larger majority (82.9%) say they have media role models of women's leadership whom they admire. The most popular types of media celebrities were singers, musicians and TV personalities. After media celebrities, other named role models in order of popularity included authors and journalists, politicians and governors, activists and health care workers.

The named role models were more often female than male: girls and young women often named their mothers, grandmothers, sisters and female teachers. They also named inspirational women leaders from international to national level: from author and former first lady Michelle Obama to Kiran Bedi, a female retired Indian Police Service officer, social activist and politician; from Nobel Peace Prize winner Malala Yousafzai to Mariama Ba, a Senegalese author and feminist; from actor and campaigner Emma Watson to Nunu Kumba, a South Sudanese female politician.

When detail was given about how such female role models inspired them, girls and young women listed motivational characteristics such as courage, determination and fighting spirit in difficult circumstances. Notably, girls and young women also articulated how some of their role models encouraged them to believe and be confident in their own abilities, their rights to education and their potential to succeed in their goals. These findings are consistent with existing evidence on female role models as enablers for girls and young women's leadership aspirations.⁶³

"In life one needs a person to give us an example and to tell us "you can do it, you can do it", someone to encourage us." – Girl, aged 15, Dominican Republic

"My role model is my mother [...] I feel I'm nothing without her support. I want to bring positive changes in my society by getting inspiration from my mother as she is also a social worker." – Young woman, aged 21-24, India

"I get a lot of influence from her by listening to her experiences. She's slightly older than me and she has achieved a similar goal to mine. I'm inspired by her." – Girl, aged 15-17, Japan

"... when we take example of the [former] President of Liberia and the Secretary of USA, it means girls can also lead." – Young woman, aged 21-14, South Sudan

Respondents to the survey were asked whether there are women leaders in their community who they admire, and again this varied by age and education level. Young women aged 21-25 years old are more likely to have role models in their community than those aged 15-20 (72.8% compared to 66.4%), as are those with higher levels of education and those who self-identified as having high levels of education, jobs and wealth. Married young women are more likely to report having a woman in the community that they admire than those who are not married (78.6% compared to 68.4%). Those from North American and European countries were least likely to report having a female leader in their community, as were respondents from high income countries.

Region	Percentage	(n)
West & Central Africa	73.9%	1109
East & South Africa	83.4%	1162
Asia	75.9%	1611
Europe	55.1%	1131

Table 39: Women in community who are role models according to region

North America	63.5%	729
Latin America	67.2%	1236

Table 40: Women in community who are role models according to country income level

Country Income	Percentage	(n)
Low Income	78.5%	2271
Medium Income	76.9%	2632
High Income	55.5%	2075

Table 41: Women in community who are role models according to age

Age	Percentage	(n)
15 – 20	66.4%	3574
21 – 25	72.8%	3404

Table 42: Women in community who are role models according to levels of education

Education	Percentage	(n)
None	64.8%	127
Primary	58.2%	664
Secondary	67.4%	3332
Tertiary	75.6%	2855

Table 43: Women in community who are role models according to self-defined levels of education, jobs and wealth

Social Standing	Percentage	(n)
Towards the Bottom	59.1%	1023
In the Middle	69.0%	4040
Towards the Top	77.7%	1914

Table 44: Women in community who are role models according to marital status

Marital Status	Percentage	(n)

Not Married	79.5%	909
Married	68.4%	5651

Respondents were also asked whether there were women leaders they admire in the media, and were more likely to do so if they had higher levels of education and self-identified as having higher levels of education, jobs and wealth.

Table 45: Women in media who are role models according to region

Region	Percentage	(n)
West & Central Africa	89.9%	1349
East & South Africa	87.4%	1218
Asia	82.2%	1744
Europe	76.0%	1560
North America	76.0%	871
Latin America	86.7%	1596

Table 46: Women in media who are role models according to country income level

Country Income	Percentage	(n)
Low Income	88.7%	2567
Medium Income	88.9%	3043
High Income	73.0%	2728

Table 47: Women in media who are role models according to age

Age	Percentage	(n)
15 – 20	80.9%	4349
21 – 25	85.3%	3989

Table 48: Women in media who are role models according to education

Education	Percentage	(n)
None	68.4%	134
Primary	74.6%	851

Secondary	82.4%	4074
Tertiary	86.9%	3279

Table 49: Women in media who are role models according to self-identified levels of education, jobs and wealth.

Social Standing	Percentage	(n)
Towards the Bottom	76.9%	1331
In the Middle	82.3%	4818
Towards the Top	88.8%	2188

Table 50: Women in media who are role models according to marital status

Marital Status	Percentage	(n)
Not Married	83.0%	6853
Married	86.6%	1124

Interestingly, in response to the question in the survey, girls and young women were split regarding their beliefs about media representation of female leaders. 35.3% said the media does not treat female leaders fairly, 48.7% said the media does treat female leaders fairly and 16% were undecided.

5.7 The role of family

The role of family emerged as a critical finding in terms of both supporting and hindering girls and young women's leadership aspirations. Whilst all five countries reported that female leaders faced a general lack of support and criticism from society, a lack of support from family seemed to be more detrimental to leadership ambitions; conversely, support from family from a young age, including encouragement to defy gender stereotypes, was found to be was one of the key enablers of leadership.

"Boys or males get more support from family." - Girl, aged 15-17, India

"People are more supportive towards boys or males. Even if boys have less knowledge or education in comparison of females, still community give more support to boys or males." – Young woman, 18-20, India

"I think that she became a leader because when she was a little girl her parents helped her, they advised her and gave her motivation to be strong and taught her that she had to know how to get on well with people, listen to them and help them." – Girl, aged 15, Dominican Republic

These findings illustrate that families and communities are critical to harnessing leadership aspirations. Girls and young women are most influenced by their immediate environment and look to their family members as role models and supporters and to unburdened by gender norms. In this respect, more female family members were named than male family members although in many cases participants simply said 'parents' which makes the gender hard to unpick. Whilst family support alone will not be enough to overcome the structural barriers to girls' and women's leadership, achieving progress and equal representation without it is likely to be impossible.

5.8 Experience of leadership

Girls and young women were asked in the survey about their leadership experience with a question on whether they had ever been in a position where they led others or made decisions for others. The vast majority of survey respondents (85.1%) have had at least one experience of leading, with 25.6% reporting multiple leadership experiences.

Table 51: Leadership experience

	Percentage	(n)
No	14.9%	1,495
Yes, a little	59.5%	5,984
Yes, a lot	25.6%	2,578

Respondents' experience of leadership varies by age and education. Young women ages 21-25 are more likely to report a lot of leadership experience than girls aged 15-20. Girls and young women who have completed tertiary education (90.0%) are more likely to say they have had at least one experience of leading, compared to 67.9% of girls and young women who have not completed any schooling. Young women who self-identified as having higher levels of education, jobs and wealth have had more leadership experiences (88.9%) than those who self-identified as having middle (85.6%) and lower (78.2%) levels. Girls' leadership experience does not vary by whether they are married or not.

Table 52: Leadership experience according to age

A little leadership experience		
Age	Percentage	(n)
15 – 20	60.1%	3233
21 – 25	58.8%	2751
A lot of leadership experience		
Age	Percentage	(n)
15 – 20	23.5%	1262
21 – 25	28.1%	1316

Table 53: Leadership experience according to levels of education

A little leadership experience		
Education	Percentage	(n)
None	45.9%	90
Primary	60.5%	690
Secondary	60.1%	2975

Further Education	59.1%	2229
A lot of leadership experience		
Education	Percentage	(n)
None	21.9%	43
Primary	19.6%	224
Secondary	23.2%	1146
Further Education	30.9%	1165

Table 54: Leadership experience according to levels of self-identified education, jobs and wealth

A little leadership experience			
Social Standing	Percentage	(n)	
Towards the Bottom	59.5%	1032	
In the Middle	61.8%	3619	
Towards the Top	53.9%	1328	
A lot of leadership experience			
Social Standing	Percentage	(n)	
Towards the Bottom	18.6%	323	
In the Middle	23.8%	1394	
Towards the Top	35.0%	861	

Table 55: Leadership experience according to marital status

A little leadership experience		
Marital Status	Percentage	(n)
Not Married	60.2%	4975
Married	54.7%	711
A lot of leadership experience		
Marital Status	Percentage	(n)
Not Married	25.1%	2071
Married	29.1%	378

The one-in-four (25.6%) girls who report multiple leadership experiences are twice as likely as girls with no leadership experience to report high confidence in their leadership abilities (54.3% compared to 23.6%). It is unclear whether girls seek out multiple leadership experiences because they are confident in their abilities, or whether they are confident in their abilities as a result of multiple leadership experiences. Either way, this finding demonstrates the importance of exposing girls and young women to opportunities to lead early on in life.

Interestingly, respondents with multiple experiences are more likely to identify discrimination than those without leadership experience: they are more likely to think that women in leadership positions have to work harder than men to be respected (64.5% compared to 54.0% of girls with no leadership experience), that women leaders are treated less well because of their gender (94.1% compared to 87.7%) and that women in leadership roles experience unwanted physical contact, than girls with no leadership experience (93.2% compared to 86.5%). These findings indicate perceptions of sexism around leadership are not just perceptions: girls and young women *experience* leadership as a sexist, potentially hostile space for women. Furthermore, these findings present a Catch 22 situation, since both the survey and the qualitative data found that experience was one of the greatest enablers and predictors of leadership ambitions and confidence in leadership abilities. This suggests that girls and young women need to be provided with safe opportunities to craft leadership experience and skills early on.

Table 56: Agree and strongly agree that women in leadership are less respected according toleadership experience

	Percentage	(n)
No Leadership Experience	54.0%	808
Some Leadership Experience	58.9%	3526
A Lot of Leadership Experience	64.5%	1663

 Table 57: Agree and strongly agree that women in leadership are treated differently according to

 leadership experience

	Percentage	(n)
No Leadership Experience	87.7%	1311
Some Leadership Experience	95.5%	5712
A Lot of Leadership Experience	94.1%	2427

 Table 58: Women in leadership experience unwanted physical contact rarely through to always according to leadership experience

	Percentage	(n)
No Leadership Experience	86.5%	1293

Some Leadership Experience	94.5%	5653
A Lot of Leadership Experience	93.2%	2402

6. CONCLUSIONS AND CALLS TO ACTION

6.1 Conclusions

This research seeks to amplify the voices and views of girls and young women across the world. In doing so, it shines a light on a new and unique perspective of female leadership.

6.1.1 Girls' and young women's leadership aspirations

Girls and young women do aspire to lead. From adolescence and into early adulthood, they are motivated to become change makers and they want to work towards improving their community and country. Whilst there are variations by domain of leadership and across regional and income groupings and individual characteristics, overall girls and young women aspire to lead and have the confidence to do so.

6.1.2 Barriers to pursuing leadership ambitions

Despite their leadership aspirations, girls and young women are acutely aware of the difficulties that they would face if they chose to act on or pursue their aspirations. They spoke about the significant barriers that female leaders face: gender norms, gender-based discrimination, blatant sexism, harassment and violence, a lack of respect, and the expectation of balancing work and home life. Broadly speaking, these barriers were prevalent across countries and regions. Given such perceptions and the reality facing female leaders, it is unsurprising that girls' and young women's leadership aspirations wane as they get older.

Faced with pervasive patriarchal structures, institutional processes and gender roles and norms, girls and young women lack the opportunities and spaces to lead. They also lack the support to step into these spaces where they exist. In addition, the findings suggest that girls and young women are internalising harmful gender norms and stereotypes from a young age, which shapes and limits their ideas of female leadership. This is demonstrated by several findings illustrating that young women, even when they wholeheartedly agreed that women can and should be leaders, appear to buy into the very stereotypical ideas about gender roles and characteristics which they are seeking to change.

6.1.3 Pathways to pursuing leadership aspirations

Evidence from this research shows that age is critical: younger adolescent girls appear to be more optimistic and confident in their capability to lead than their older counterparts. Education is also an important factor in enhancing girls' and young women's leadership ambitions and potential – there are numerous findings across both the quantitative and qualitative data which show that education really does matter.

Families and communities also play a significant role. They are critical in unburdening girls and young women from restrictive gender norms and empowering them to act on their aspirations. Girls and young

women are most influenced by their immediate environment and look to their family members, and often the women and girls in their families, as role models and supporters of their goals and dreams. Unfortunately, there is also the family where girls experience restrictive norms and behaviours, closing down spaces for them to lead or aspire to lead. This dual role that the family plays must be recognised and appropriate action taken either to support or counteract its influence depending on the circumstances. Female leaders, from community, national to international levels, also inspire girls and young women, showing them that it is possible to overcome barriers and obstacles and lead change. Interestingly girls called out their friends and peers as those they could turn to for assistance and support. Taken together this all points to girls and young women portraying their leadership as collaborative and collective. They reach out when they need to and seemingly do not see becoming a leader as a purely individual journey.

6.1.4 New definitions of leadership

Following on from the above, this research has shown that girls and young women are defining leadership for themselves. And evidence from this research suggests they are defining leadership in collaborative terms. Girls and young women want to be change makers. According to the girls and young women who participated in this study amongst the most important characteristics of leadership were: driving change in their community, striving for social justice and gender equality, listening to others, making decisions collectively and leading in a compassionate way that empowers others.

6.1.5 Findings for further investigation

Across the board, young women from low-income countries are more likely to aspire to be a leader in their country, community or family than those from middle- or high-income countries.

Overall, girls emphasise leadership for the collective good. These findings support alternative forms of leadership: decision making in pursuit of social, political, economic and cultural equality not authority exercised to entrench individual power. However, this is at odds with current notions of leadership where individual power engulfed in hierarchical structures is considered the norm. If we are to encourage more girls to pursue leadership aspirations, how decisions are currently made needs to be reconciled with how girls want to lead.

Young women who are married reported feeling more confident in their leadership abilities than those who were unmarried. However, their aspirations to lead were limited to certain roles including their country and family. They were far less likely to see themselves as leaders in their careers. Whilst this suggests that the expectation of domestic responsibility placed on them outweighs their ambition for careers, it doesn't explain why they still aspire to lead in other ways.

6.2 Recommendations

These recommendations, based on the findings from this report, are built on the experiences and priorities of girls and young women and are focused on four key areas that they have identified. From an early age, girls and young women internalise gendered stereotypes which both shape and limit their ideas, ambitions and self-confidence. At the heart of any of these recommendations is the urgent need to challenge and transform social and gender norms that hold girls back from acting on their leadership aspirations.

These are the four calls to action.

- Cultivate young leaders starting at home: work in partnership with families, local leaders and communities to create a strong support network that nurtures girls' leadership aspirations instead of re-enforcing gender stereotypes that both shape and limit their ideas, ambitions and self-confidence.
- Encourage new visions of leadership: challenge the very perception of what it means to be a leader and re-enforce the message that girls and women belong in the places and spaces of power.
- Challenge sexism and discrimination: urgently tackle the pervasive discriminatory culture that deters girls from pursuing their leadership ambitions.

• Set girls up to succeed: direct efforts towards education and opening up further opportunities to empower girls to exercise their leadership skills and gain the necessary experience to be successful in serving their communities and driving change.

6.3 Cultivate young leaders, starting at home

Girls have said they are most influenced by their immediate environments and we know that age is critical when it comes to nurturing their leadership ambitions. Investments are most likely to be effective during adolescence and any efforts to support women's leadership must begin in childhood and increase and adapt as girls become young adults. Therefore, governments, corporates, the media, and civil society organisations must work in partnership with families and local communities to challenge and transform the cultural and gendered expectations that dictate the value and roles of girls and boys within the family and wider society.

- Parents, schools, religious and cultural organisations should be seen as key entry points to creating a strong support network that nurtures girls' leadership aspirations. Efforts should be focused on making families more aware of their unique ability to foster equality in society by enabling girls to become leaders.
- Civil society and non-governmental organisations should work with families and local communities to provide encouragement, opportunities and spaces equally to girls and boys.
 Participation in decision-making processes at family and community level can not only help girls to gain necessary skills but will also help challenge the social and gender norms that often dictate that political and civic leadership is reserved for men.
- 3. Mothers, fathers and brothers can all act as champions within the home and the local community. Fathers and brothers can share the burden of domestic responsibility as it relates to house-work and childcare in order to undermine the accepted stereotypes and promote girls and young women's leadership.
- 4. Within family, community and country environments, there is a need to create safe spaces where girls and young women can discuss issues that matter to them. Community and country leaders should work with girls and young women to create and co-design safe avenues for their civic and political participation.

6.4 Encourage new visions of leadership

Girls will only be encouraged in their ambitions when the concept of leadership itself is transformed to embrace a more collaborative, less authoritarian style and structure which girls feel they can work with. Critically, there is a need for those in positions of authority to **start an authentic discussion around alternative forms of leadership** to create greater awareness and understanding of how girls and young women are interpreting leadership styles and agendas. They should work with girls and women to assess what actions can be taken within existing structures and organisations to better reflect and operate within this more collaborative style. Governments, the private sector and the media should be seen to be visibly promoting a more inclusive and diverse society, not least within their own organisations, including sending out a clear message through public campaigns that girls and women belong in the spaces and places of decision-making and power.

- For girls and young women, the presence of female role models is crucial to nurturing their leadership ambitions. Government departments, corporations and civil society organisations must support mentorship schemes and other ways to connect women who hold leadership positions to younger generations to provide a critical intergenerational exchange. This will help girls navigate challenges and provide a crucial source of encouragement as they pursue their ambitions to become leaders and to affect change.
- 2. Additionally, media organisations in particular must recognise their role in perpetrating stereotypes around women leaders. **Diversity, positive images and affirmative language** could transform the way women are portrayed, providing girls and young women with the encouragement they need, promoting gender equality rather than adding to the discrimination and hostility that girls currently experience.
- 3. Outside of this, key changes to public policy and legislation are required to ensure more women can enter into and stay in leadership and decision-making spaces and become the role models

that girls need. Governments, national parliaments, political parties and corporations need to recognise and address patriarchy and gender bias at the outset of formal processes, and seek to create terms of engagement that are enabling for young women: through actions that could include quotas, debating rules about respect and active listening, allowing young women to speak first, and supporting women-only dialogue forums in advance of formal processes so that they can strengthen their agency and voice.

6.5 Challenge sexism and discrimination

Any campaigns to encourage more women into positions where they can drive change must go hand in hand with efforts to tackle the sexism and discrimination, including violence and the threat of violence, often directed towards women leaders within different power structures and organisations. It is completely unacceptable: girls and young women see the price that many women leaders pay as they take up prominent positions, and this has a negative effect on their own aspirations to lead.

- Governments and other workplaces must take concrete steps to prevent and respond to the very real and/or perceived experiences of sexual harassment and violence, that women leaders of all ages are subjected to, by enforcing existing laws and policies and strengthening reporting mechanisms. Public campaigning against all forms of violence against women must be funded and promoted.
- 2. It is everyone's responsibility to **condemn harassment** and violence against girls and women, including those who choose to speak up. Men and boys need to recognise that sexist behaviour will not be tolerated and instead be engaged, through public campaigning, as allies and champions in promoting gender equality and women's leadership.

6.6 Set girls up to succeed

Girls and young women value education and understand that higher education increases their opportunities across the board: it enhances both their confidence in their abilities and their chances of becoming leaders. The quality of the education they receive also matters and education should be gender transformative, leading not only to certificates and degrees, but to skills and knowledge that range from information about sexual and reproductive health and rights to the ability for critical thinking and practical action.

During the research it also became evident that experience was the largest enabler of girls' leadership aspirations. Girls and young women need safe spaces and opportunities to craft leadership experience and skills early on in childhood and adolescence if they are going to be able to pursue their ambitions in their careers, in the community and country. Participation in school governance is a critical first step towards developing agency and leadership skills and supporting girls and young women to join social networks and engage in civic action will also help them gain leadership experience. These spaces should provide opportunities for girls to exercise a different style of leadership, one which is more collaborative than the hierarchical and traditional leadership structures they see around them.

- Governments, international organisations, school governing bodies and other key stakeholders must increase girls' access to schools and to wider educational opportunities which will empower them to take up leadership opportunities and to make informed decisions about their lives and futures. They need to equip girls with the tools, resources and support to challenge the status quo and demand an inclusive and equitable world that reflects their needs, rights and aspirations.
- 2. Education Ministries must remove any gender bias and discrimination within and across education systems, ensuring that learning materials are non-discriminatory, gender sensitive, inclusive and do not reinforce gender stereotyping around leadership roles and styles. Governments should undertake a gender review of their curricula, textbooks and games, accompanied by teacher training and supervision to ensure learning environments are free from gender stereotypes and instead promote equality, non-discrimination and human rights.

- 3. Governments and civil society must **support and encourage girls' and young women's** groups, networks and youth-led civic action, recognising that youth-driven collective action is one of the main avenues for adolescent girls to act on their aspirations to drive social change.
- 4. Opportunities for girl and young women leaders should be tied to additional support mechanisms including safe spaces, networking and mentor programmes all of which have been identified by girls and young women as important to support their collective action and their leadership ambitions. These should be flexibly funded and include access to decision makers, as well as increased support to girls and young women in managing safety and self-care.

"Young women leaders should see a women-friendly future, because they can be one of those women" Girl, 15-17, Japan

7. BIBLIOGRAPHY

Archard, Nicole., "Preparing Adolescent Girls for School and Post-School Leadership: Recommendations to School Educators from Educational Staff, Female Students, and Women Leaders," *International Journal of Adolescence and Youth*, vol. 18, no. 3, (2012), p.158-175.

ATALANTA, Getting Impatient: Overcoming barriers to women's political leadership & accelerating progress towards equality (2017), p.1-40. Available from: https://static1.squarespace.com/static/595411f346c3c48fe75fd39c/t/5a198d188165f542d679b618/15116 23962875/Getting-Impatient-Atalanta-Report FINAL.pdf Accessed 14 April 2019.

Batliwala, Srilatha., "Feminist Leadership for Social Transformation: Clearing the Conceptual Cloud" (New Delhi: CREA, 2011), p.1-79.

Beaman, Lori., Duflo, Esther., Pande, Rohini., and Topalova, Petia., "Female Leadership Raises Aspirations and Educational Attainment for Girls: A Policy Experiment in India," *Science*, vol. 335, no.6068, (2012), p.582–586.

Blum, Wm. Robert., *Adolescence: Age and Stage. Understanding the Golden Threads that Connect the Adolescent Girl Experience Worldwide* (Maryland: John Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health, 2017), p.1-13, Available from: <u>https://www.girleffect.org/stories/adolescence-age-and-stage/</u>Accessed 3 October 2018.

Catalyst, "Damned or Doomed – Catalyst Study on Gender Stereotyping at Work Uncovers Double-Bind Dilemmas for Women," Women in Management Review, vol. 22, no. 8, (2007).

Catalyst, *Quick Take: Women in Management* (2018). Available from: https://www.catalyst.org/knowledge/women-management Accessed 25 August 2018.

Cribbin, J. James., *Leadership: Strategies for organizational effectiveness* (New York: Pan Books, 1981).

Disabled Women's Network (DAWN) Ontario, *The Feminist Principle of Leadership,* (2008) cited in Batliwala, Srilatha., "Feminist Leadership for Social Transformation: Clearing the Conceptual Cloud" (New Delhi: CREA, 2011), p.1-79.

Donelly, H. James., Ivancevich, M. John., and Gibson, L. James, *Organizations: Behavior, Structure, Processes*, 5th ed. (Texas: Business Publications Inc, 1985).

Eagly, Alice., "Female Leadership Advantage and Disadvantage: Resolving the Contradictions," *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, vol. 31, no. 1, (2007), p.1-12.

Eagly, Alice, H., and Carli, Linda, L., *Women and the Labyrinth of Leadership,* (Harvard Business Review: 2007), Available from: <u>https://hbr.org/2007/09/women-and-the-labyrinth-of-leadership</u> Accessed 14 April 2019.

Eagly, H. Alice., and Johnson, T. Blair., "Gender and Leadership Style: A Meta-Analysis," *CHIP Documents*, no.11, (1990), p.233-256. Available from: <u>https://opencommons.uconn.edu/chip_docs/11/</u> Accessed 14 April 2019.

Eagly, H. Alice., and Karau, J. Steven., "Role Incongruity Theory of Prejudice Toward Female Leaders," *Psychological Review*, vol. 109, no. 3, (2002), p.573–598.

Fels, Anna., Necessary Dreams: Ambition in Changing Women's Lives (New York: Anchor Press, 2005).

Gage Consortium, *Gender and Adolescence: Why Understanding Adolescent Capabilities, Change Strategies and Contexts Matters* (London: Overseas Development Institute, 2017), p.i-59. Available from: https://euagenda.eu/upload/publications/untitled-141791-ea.pdf Accessed 5 October 2018.

Gerard, M. Jean., and Booth, Z. Margaret., "Family and School Influences on Adolescents' Adjustment: The Moderating Role of Youth Hopefulness and Aspirations for the Future," *Journal of Adolescence*, vol. 44, (2015), p.1-16.

Hamad, A. Basam., Gercama, Ingrid., and Jones, Nicole., *We Girls Also Have Ambitions! Exploring Opportunities for and Challenges to Quality Education for Adolescents in the Gaza Strip*, (London: GAGE Consortium, 2017), p.1-21. Available from: <u>https://www.gage.odi.org/publication/education-adolescents-gaza/</u> Accessed 4 October 2018.

Hersey, Paul., and Blanchard, H. Kenneth., *Management of organizational behaviour* (New York: Prentice Hall, 1988).

Hoyt, A. Michael., and Kennedy, L. Cara., "Leadership and Adolescent Girls: A Qualitative Study of Leadership Development," *American Journal of Community Psychology,* vol. 42, no. 3-4 (2008), p.203-219.

International Labour Organization, *Global Employment Trends for Youth 2015: Scaling up Investments in Decent Jobs* (Geneva: International Labour Office, 2015), p.1-91. Available from: <u>https://www.ilo.org/global/research/global-reports/youth/2015/WCMS_412015/lang--en/index.htm</u> Accessed 14 April 2019.

International Labour Organization, *Women at Work Trends 2016* (Geneva: International Labour Office, 2016), p.1-115. Available from:

http://www.ilo.org/gender/Informationresources/Publications/WCMS_457317/lang--en/index.htm Accessed 18 April 2018.

Inter-Parliamentary Union, *Women in National Parliaments: Situation as of June 1 2018,* (2018). Available from: <u>http://archive.ipu.org/wmn-e/world.htm</u> Accessed 14 April 2019.

Inter-Parliamentary Union, *Women in National Parliaments: Situation as of 1 January 2019* (2019). Available from: <u>http://archive.ipu.org/wmn-e/world.htm</u> Accessed 14 April 2019.

Inter-Parliamentary Union, Youth Participation in National Parliaments (2016). Available from: <u>https://www.ipu.org/resources/publications/reports/2016-07/youth-participation-in-national-parliaments</u> Accessed 14 April 2019.

Jamieson, H. Kathleen., *Beyond the Double Bind: Women and Leadership* (New York: Oxford University Press, 1997).

Koenig, M. Anne., Eagly, H. Alice., Mitchell, A. Abigail., and Ristikan, Tiina., "Are Leader Stereotypes Masculine? A Meta-Analysis of Three Research Paradigms," *Psychological Bulletin*, vol. 137, no. 4, (2011), p.616–642.

KPMG, *KPMG Women's Leadership Study: Moving Women Forward into Leadership Roles* (2017), p.1-23. Available from:

https://home.kpmg/content/dam/kpmg/ph/pdf/ThoughtLeadershipPublications/KPMGWomensLeadership Study.pdf_Accessed 16 August 2018.

Lawless, L. Jennifer., and Fox, L. Richard., *Girls Just Wanna Not Run: The Gender Gap In Young American's Political Ambition* (Washington: Women and Politics Institute, 2013), p.i-26. Available from: <u>https://www.american.edu/spa/wpi/upload/Girls-Just-Wanna-Not-Run_Policy-Report.pdf</u> Accessed 8 August 2018.

Lawless, L. Jennifer., and Fox, L. Richard., *Running from Office: Why Young Americans are Turned Off by Politics* (New York: Oxford University Press, 2015).

Lawless, L. Jennifer., and Fox, L. Richard., *Men Rule: The Continued Under-Representation of Women in U.S. Politics* (Women and Politics Institute, American University, 2016), p.i-26. Available from: https://www.american.edu/spa/wpi/upload/2012-Men-Rule-Report-web.pdf, Accessed 8 August 2018.

McKinsey Research, Delivering Through Diversity (2018), p.1-42. Available from: https://www.mckinsey.com/~/media/mckinsey/business%20functions/organization/our%20insights/delivering%20through%20diversity/delivering-through-diversity_full-report.ashx Accessed 25 August 2018.

Nagel, Joane., "Nation," in *Handbook of Studies on Men and Masculinities,* ed. Michael Kimmel, Jeff Hearn and R. W. Connell (Thousand Oaks, CA, Sage Publications, 2004), p.397-414.

Noland, Marcus., Moran, Tyler., and Kotschwar, B., "Is Gender Diversity Profitable? Evidence from a Global Study," *Peterson Institute for International Economics: Working Paper Series,* WP 16-3 (2016), p.1-35. Available from: <u>https://piie.com/publications/wp/wp16-3.pdf</u> Accessed 10 October 2018.

Nordell, D. J., *Positions of Power: How Female Ambition is Shaped* (The Slate Gist, 2006), Available from: <u>http://www.slate.com/articles/news_and_politics/the_gist/2006/11/positions_of_power.html2016</u> Accessed 8 August 2018.

O'Neil, Tam., Plank, Georgina., and Domingo, Pilar., *Support to women and girls' leadership: A rapid review of the evidence* (London: Overseas Development Institute, 2015), p.i-27. Available from: https://www.odi.org/sites/odi.org.uk/files/odi-assets/publications-opinion-files/9623.pdf Accessed 29 April 2019.

Pew Research Center, *Women and Leadership: Public Says Women are Equally Qualified, but Barriers Persist* (Washington: Pew Research Center, 2015), p.1-55. Available from: <u>https://assets.pewresearch.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2015/01/2015-01-14_women-and-leadership.pdf</u> Accessed 28 August 2018.

Rauch, F. Charles., and Behling, Orlando., "Functionalism: Basis for an alternate approach to the study of leadership," in *Leaders and managers: International perspectives on managerial behavior and leadership*, ed. J. G. Hunt, D. M. Hosking, C. A. Schriesheim, and R. Stewart (New York: Pergamon Press, 1984), p.46-62.

Riffkin, Rebecca., "Americans Still Prefer a Male Boss to a Female Boss," *Gallup* (2014), Available from: <u>http://www.gallup.com/poll/178484/americans-prefer-male-boss-female-boss.aspx</u> Accessed 10 October 2018.

Schneider, C. Monica., and Bos, L. Angela., "Measuring Stereotypes of Female Politicians," *Political Psychology*, vol. 35, no. 2, (2014), p.245-266.

Smith, Stacy., Choueiti, Marc. and Pieper, Katherine., *Gender Bias Without Border: An Investigation of Female Characters in Popular Films Across 11 Countries* (Los Angeles: The Geena Davis Institute on Gender in Media, 2014. Available from: <u>https://seejane.org/wp-content/uploads/gender-bias-without-borders-full-report.pdf</u>

Spence, T. Janet., and Helmreich, L. Robert., *Masculinity and Femininity: Their Psychological Dimensions, Correlates and Antecedents* (Austin: University of Texas Press, 1978).

Stumm vom Sophie., Chamorro-Premuzic, Tomas., and Furnham, Adrian., "Decomposing Self-estimates of Intelligence: Structure and Sex Differences Across 12 Nations," *British Journal of Psychology*, vol. 100, no. 2, (2009), p.429-442.

Thornton, Grant., *Women in Business: Beyond Policy to Progress* (2018). Available from: <u>https://www.grantthornton.global/globalassets/1.-member-firms/global/insights/women-in-business/grant-thornton-women-in-business-2018-report.pdf Accessed 25 August 2018</u>.

Thornton, Grant., *Women in Business: Building a Blueprint for Action* (2019), p.1-9. Available from: <u>https://www.grantthornton.global/globalassets/global-insights---do-not-edit/2019/women-in-business/gtil-wib-report_grant-thornton-spreads-low-res.pdf</u> Accessed 14 April 2019.

Twenge, Jeane., "Changes in Masculine and Feminine Traits Over Time: A Meta-Analysis," *Sex Roles*, vol. 36, no. 5-6, (1997), p.305-325.

UNESCO, "Gender Review: Creating Sustainable Futures for All," *Global Education Monitoring Report,* (Paris: UNESCO, 2016), p.1-55, Available from: http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0024/002460/246045e.pdf Accessed 18 April 2018.

UN Women, *Transforming Economies, Realizing Rights. Progress of the World's Women 2015–2016* (New York: UN Women Headquarters, 2015), p.1-337. Available from: <u>http://www.unwomen.org/en/digital-library/publications/2015/4/progress-of-the-worlds-women-2015</u> Accessed 14 April 2019.

Weissbourd, Rick., *Leaning Out: Teen Girls and Leadership Biases,* (Cambridge: Harvard Graduate School of Education and Making Caring Common Project, 2015), p.iv-37. Available from: <u>https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5b7c56e255b02c683659fe43/t/5bae5d7853450ad602cc8681/1538</u> <u>153864970/leanout-report.pdf</u> Accessed 14 April 2019.

World Bank, *Women, Business and the Law 2018* (Washington: World Bank Group, 2018), p.1-180. Available from: <u>http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/926401524803880673/pdf/125804-PUB-REPLACEMENT-PUBLIC.pdf</u> Accessed 18 April 2018.

ANNEX 1: DETAILED METHODOLOGY

Overview

This research sought to capture the voice and perspective of girls and young women and their own understanding of leadership and the potential pathways and barriers to becoming leaders themselves. However, it was also important to have a global overview of these issues, allowing comparability between different types of countries and contexts. Countries were selected at random from within regional and income categories. Plan International has offices in all participating countries. A mixed methods approach was applied: a short, quantitative survey in 19 countries and in-depth, participatory focus group discussions (FGDs) in a sub-set of five of those countries (see Box 1). Girls and young women aged 15-24 were the target in both approaches, capturing perspectives across the breadth of different contexts whilst enabling discussions on the complex and nuanced aspects of the research questions. However, for reasons which are undetermined, the survey data included responses from 317 25-year-olds. The research includes all the survey responses in the analysis.

Country selection and sample

Plan International operates in 70 countries, and divides its regions as follows:

- Asia
- East and Southern Africa
- Americas (Latin and South America)
- West and Central Africa
- High income countries

Representation of each of these regions was essential to the design of this research, recognising the huge differences likely to occur in different parts of the world. Therefore, a minimum of 15 countries was required for the survey sample: three countries in each of the five regions. Selection was limited by a) countries in which Plan International operates, and b) countries in which third party survey firms could carry out the survey. This resulted in 45 possible countries, which were then categorised by region, subregion and income group, and a random selection applied to each category.

Budget and national interest enabled an additional four countries to be included, totalling 19 countries FGDs were carried out in five countries, a subset of the countries that had taken part in the survey, in total one country per Plan region representing a range of characteristics: language, country income level, urban and rural areas and individual backgrounds.

Participant selection

Box 4. Countries in which the research took place

Survey: Benin, Canada, Denmark, Dominican Republic, Finland, Honduras, India, Japan, Netherlands, Peru, Philippines, Senegal, Sierra Leone, South Sudan, Sweden, Vietnam, Uganda, USA, Zimbabwe.

Focus group discussions: Dominican Republic, India, Japan, Senegal, South Sudan

The survey was conducted in all 19 countries, with a target of reaching 500 young women (aged 15-25) in each. Response rates for each country are displayed in Table 2. Potential respondents received an initial message which explained their selection for the survey and asked them to decide whether to opt in.

The overall sample size is 10,064 across the nineteen countries, and the sample size within each country is large enough to draw region-specific and country-specific conclusions. The average age of survey respondents was 22, with 53.5% of the sample ages 15 to 20 and 46.5% of the sample ages 21 to 25. Half of the respondents (49.2%) have completed secondary, and one-third (37.5%) have completed tertiary education. A small portion (13.6%) of girls and young women in the sample are married. Most of

the respondents in the sample say they have 'middle' self-defined levels of education, jobs and wealth (58.3%), while 17.2% describe their levels as "towards the bottom" and 24.5% say they are "towards the top."

12 FGDs were carried out in each of the five selected countries with commonly between 6-10 participants aged 15-25 in each, 400 in total across all five countries. Participants were identified by Plan country staff and networks; some participants were already involved in Plan's programmes and some participants were recruited through schools and higher education institutes with whom Plan has existing relationships.

Table 59: Response Summary by Country

Country (languages of research)	Data collected by (survey firm)	Sample size: Survey	FGD activities and (total participants)
Benin (French, Fon)	Kantar	500	0
Senegal (French, Wolof)	Kantar	500	12 FGDs (75 participants)
Sierra Leone (Krio)	Kantar	500	0
South Sudan <i>(Juba</i> <i>Arabic)</i>	Kantar	393	12 FGDs (90 participants)
Uganda (English, Swahili, Luganda)	Kantar	500	0
Zimbabwe <i>(Shona,</i> <i>Ndebele)</i>	Kantar	500	0
USA (English)	IPSOS	647	0
Canada (English, French)	IPSOS	510	0
Denmark (Danish)	IPSOS	505	0
Dominican Republic <i>(Spanish)</i>	IPSOS	627	13 FGDs (80 participants)
Honduras (Spanish)	IPSOS	564	0
India (Hindi, English)	IPSOS	534	12 FGDs (94 participants)
Japan <i>(Japanese)</i>	IPSOS	538	12 FGDs (74 participants)
Netherlands (Dutch)	IPSOS	519	0
Peru (Spanish)	IPSOS	649	0
Philippines (Tagalog)	IPSOS	517	0
Vietnam (Vietnamese)	IPSOS	533	0
Sweden (Swedish)	IPSOS	512	0
Finland (Finnish)	IPSOS	516	0
TOTAL		1-,064	

Survey

Modality

There were two survey firms used to ensure global coverage: Kantar covered the African continent and Ipsos Mori covered the rest of the world. Given the breadth of this study and the varied contexts, the survey was delivered through online and SMS modalities using survey firms operating in each country. These options allowed a cost-effective method, enabling access across a variety of contexts with speed and flexibility of implementation. Young women face many time pressures but SMS allowed the target audience to complete the survey at their own convenience. Respondents were also able to receive the survey invitation if their phone was switched off or was out of service, and they could participate without requiring internet connection. This was essential in contexts where connectivity is relatively low.

Furthermore, where the target audience is likely to be in education, unemployed and/or on a low income – it was essential that participating in the survey came at no cost to the respondent. Existing partnerships with Mobile Network Operators (MNOs) ensured that respondents would not be charged to receive the initial message, or to send their responses. Respondents were given a \$0.50 incentive on completion of the survey. This was paid through a SIM 'top up', meaning that the respondent received the incentive amount in the form of phone credit upon completion of the survey. Only respondents that completed the entire survey were eligible for the incentive.

Questions were sent to respondents one message at a time to ensure clarity over which question they were responding to. On completion respondents were advised of when they would receive their incentive and where to find further information on the survey.

Tool

Using the research questions as a basis, survey questions were devised by the Geena Davis Institute, with reflection and input from Plan International staff at HQ and country office level. Alongside demographic questions including age, marital status, self-defined disability and level of education the survey included 10 questions on aspirations to lead, experience of leading, confidence, encouragement, role models and discrimination. One of the demographic questions was about the relative social class position respondents saw themselves in. Determining the social class of respondents typically takes several questions, some of which would be difficult for the target audience to respond to (e.g. household income) or may not be appropriate across the different contexts (i.e. what may be defined as a household in one context, may be different in another, therefore reducing comparability). As a result, a proxy question was used to measure respondents' social class as defined by self-identified levels of education, jobs and wealth.³ This question carried a number of limitations since responses and reported findings to this question are solely based on perceptions, rather than an objective measure such as household income.

The survey asked young women about their aspirations by domains of career, country, community and family. Participants in the survey were not provided with a definition of leadership and definitions of leadership was too nuanced a topic to ask about in the survey questions.

The full survey is included in Annex 2.

Testing

Prior to the full launch of the survey, a testing phase was carried out with the aim to better predict the likely incidence rate of the target population, and the completion rate. Across countries on the African continent the incidence rate of young women using mobile phones during the testing phase was around 15% across each of the countries, however the completion rate in testing varied significantly. Following low response rates to the SMS survey in some countries, two alternative methods were adopted as a means of boosting response rates:

 Computer Assisted Personal Interviewing (CAPI) – a web-based, interviewer administered method

³ Question wording: Where would you place yourself on a ladder if the top is for those with the best jobs, education, money? Towards the bottom; In the middle; Towards the top

 Computer Assisted Telephone Interviewing (CATI) – a telephone based, interviewer administered method that is suitable for all mobile phone types and therefore is efficient in areas with low connectivity.

Consent & ethics

The relevant permissions to conduct SMS-based research within each of the countries was granted prior to launching the survey. Respondents were given the option to opt in to the survey on receipt of the first message and were able to opt out throughout completion of the survey. They were signposted to relevant information to confirm the legitimacy of the survey. This simple opt out was followed up by two consent questions. The first of these was used to confirm informed consent, and that respondents were not being coerced into participating.⁴ The second question was targeted at respondents under the age of 18 and was used to confirm parental or guardian permission for participation in the survey.⁵ Kantar Public and Ipsos Mori are members of the European Society for Opinion and Marketing Research (ESOMAR), a membership organization representing the interests of the data, research and insights profession at an international level. The ESOMAR code stipulates standards of "ethical and professional conduct designed to maintain public confident in research" to which members must abide. The three fundamental principles are:

- 1. Researchers must be transparent with subjects about the purpose of the research;
- 2. Personal data about the respondents must be protected from unauthorized use;
- 3. Researchers must be ethical and do no harm to subjects and do no harm to the reputation of market research.

Analysis

The analysis framework was designed in order to unpack the key research questions as stated above. Recognising that in order for young women to become leaders, they need to aspire to and achieve their goals and in doing so they need to overcome the gender norms and structures which limit their vision of the possibilities awaiting them. The research therefore set out to understand whether they aspire to leadership and the common barriers, pathways and enabling factors. The quantitative data from the survey was analysed using SPSS and the qualitative data was analysed using NVivo. The combined analysis framework presented below represents the top-level coding themes, according to which this report is structured.

Table 60: Top level analysis framework

	Aspirations to leadership	Characteristics and qualities of leadership	Motivations to become leaders	Barriers to leadership	Enablers to leadership	Level of experience of leadership
Quant	Х			Х	Х	Х
Qual		X	Х	Х	Х	Х

Focus group discussions

Tools

The focus group discussion tool was developed by Plan International with inputs from the Geena Davis Institute. The development process included review and reflection from technical experts, country office

plan-international.org and seejane.org

⁴ Question wording: Reply 1 to confirm that you are choosing to take part in the survey, and that you are not being forced to take part.

⁵ Question wording: If you are under 18 years old, please reply 1 to confirm that you have permission from a parent or guardian to take part

staff, and representatives from the Global Young Influencers. The tool was designed to be participatory and interesting for the young women taking part, to illicit more in-depth reflection and discussion. It was pinned around two key activities: body mapping and an activity that sort to gauge the main sources of influence and inspiration in the lives of young women. In the body mapping exercise, participants were asked to reflect what kind of characteristics and attributes a young female leader might have. The goal of this activity was to understand how young women define leadership and the qualities involved in it. The second activity, on influence and inspiration, required the participants to identify critical people in their lives – either known to them or popular figures from outside their immediate community – and rate the extent to which those people influenced or inspired the decisions and directions of their lives. This tool sought to identify role models and sources of encouragement for young women in selecting their life pathways. In addition, using these activities as a platform, there was a set of discussion questions to hone in on specific aspects of the research questions and encourage further reflections from the participants.

The FGDs were designed with the intent of understanding how young women themselves perceived leadership in their own contexts. The aim was not to restrict the topic of leadership to any one domain or definition. If participants stated that they needed a definition of leader or leadership, facilitators were instructed to respond that a leader is 'someone who leads a group of individuals.'

The research tool used in the FGDs are included in Annex 3. This tool was further adapted and refined in each country during training of researchers, drawing on their local knowledge and expertise to ensure contextual relevancy of the tools.

Local research teams - recruitment and training

In all countries, researchers were recruited to lead the process. Researchers were predominately female, although due to capacity constraints in Senegal, some notetakers were male. In Japan and the Dominican Republic, the researchers were experienced external researchers employed by Plan; in Senegal the researchers were post-graduate students; in India and South Sudan the researchers were Plan International field staff, staff from Plan's partner organisations and local community volunteers. All researchers were selected for their experience, skills, values and approach and vetted to ensure they did not hold a criminal record.

Researchers were provided with a three to four-day training led by Plan International staff, which included topics of gender and equality, child safeguarding (including local policies and procedures), ethics, facilitation skills and the tools. The training was practical and reflective. Tools were then piloted as a final check on relevance and appropriateness of the tool and to further hone the skills of the researchers.

Consent & ethics

Plan International has considerable experience working with and conducting research with children and young people and follows strict protocols on safeguarding and ethics. All processes in this research aligned to Plan International's *Framework for Ethical Monitoring, Evaluation, Research and Learning.* In addition, an external ethics check was sought and approved for all research within the project.

Where required and possible, national and local approvals were sought. In Senegal and South Sudan appropriate national and local ethical approval and permissions were obtained prior to data collection starting. In South Sudan, ethical approval was obtained from the South Sudan National Bureau of Statistics; this approval was subsequently passed on to the state governor's office in Jubek and Torit for acknowledgement. Whilst there are local IRBs in India and Japan, it is not mandatory to apply or receive ethical approval prior to conducting data collection in these countries. Plan Dominican Republic has no access to any external ethics committee. As such, it was necessary to seek the external ethics check.

Participatory tools were designed to minimise risks to the participants and included no discussion of traumatic or harmful topics. Safe and unbiased selection and recruitment processes were followed. Researchers were trained on informed consent, confidentiality, anonymity and safeguarding procedures. Informed consent was gathered for all participants prior to data collection starting, including appropriate consent from parents/guardians for those under 18 and unmarried where required. In addition, local gatekeepers and local authorities were consulted where appropriate and required in advance of data collection starting to ensure girls and young women's safe participation in research.

Analysis

Once translated into English, all transcripts were coded using NVivo. We focused on coding that fell within the main hierarchy codes of barriers, enablers and motivations to leadership, characteristics of leadership, and key sources of influence and inspiration in young women's lives. We used case classifications for age range of focus group, country and location within country, so it was possible disaggregate and compare and contrast findings according to these characteristics. See analysis section 8.3.5 for the top-level combined analysis framework.

Limitations

Survey

Due to the modality of the survey, it necessarily included only young women who were literate and had access the necessary technology. Though the use of SMS will have increased access to some extent, the methodology would not have allowed access to the most marginalized young women and therefore are not be generalisable across whole populations. In addition, without face to face survey administration it is not possible to verify that each respondent was definitely female, although respondents did not know in advance that the survey was for females only, and the technical report from one of the survey companies suggested a high level of 'screen-outs' where respondents discarded survey after being asked to confirm their gender. Following the low response rate to the SMS survey in some countries on the African continent, it is expected that the mode shift to the alternative methods (CAPI and CATI) in order to increase response rates will have had an impact on responses and characteristics of participants. For example, a shift towards an interviewer administered survey may mean respondents who are less technologically literate may be more likely to participate, but respondents who have busy schedules may be more difficult to access. Furthermore, a shift towards modes where an interviewer is present (either over the phone or in person) may mean there is an element of social desirability bias that influences responses. On the other hand, having an interviewer administer the survey may mean that the respondent is dedicating a higher level of attention to their responses, rather than completing while they are also doing something else. Although having multiples modes of data collection does bring some limitations, using these modes allowed for the target sample size to be reached ensuring that robust data analysis can be drawn from the data.

The modality of the survey meant that only 15 questions could be asked, 5 of which were demographic, and questions had to be short, concise and closed. As a result, it was not possible to include questions on nuances of leadership or follow-up on specific issues. However, the survey did allow us to capture young women's perspectives and interpretations on broad leadership issues.

FGDs

FGDs did include some of the most marginalized populations as participants were from Plan International programmes. However, recruitment methods varied by country and this may have affected the findings in each country. When reviewing findings, it is important to bear in mind that participants in some countries have had access to Plan International programming, which may have increased their awareness of issues around gender and equality.

Due to ethical considerations and challenges with accessing younger children, especially using this technology, the research was only conducted with 15-25-year-olds, and therefore does not tell us anything about girls in early adolescents, where many critical changes may be taking place.

Levels of experience and confidence in facilitation and notetaking skills varied considerably between the researchers employed as data collectors across all five countries and sometimes within countries. Whilst all FGDs were audio recorded, there was some variation in the quality of the transcriptions and the translations into English.

ANNEX 2: SURVEY

Item Number

Question

Character Count

Q1	Select all that apply: I would like to be a leader in: 1)My career or job 2)My country 3)My community 4)My family 5)Undecided/not sure 6)None of the above	155
Q2	How confident are you in your ability to lead? 1)Not at all confident 2)A little confident 3)Neutral 4)Somewhat confident 5)Very confident	142
Q3	Have your family, friends, or teachers ever encouraged you to take on a role where you have to lead or make decisions for others? 1)No 2)Somewhat/A little 3)Yes	160
Q4	Have you ever been in a position where you led others or made decisions for them? 1)No 2)Yes- a few times 3)Yes- a lot of times	128
Q5	Women in leadership have to work harder than men in leadership to be respected. Do you? 1)Strongly disagree 2)Disagree 3)Undecided 4)Agree 5)Strongly agree	156
Q6	Female leaders are treated fairly by the media. Do you? 1)Strongly disagree 2)Disagree 3)Undecided 4)Agree 5)Strongly agree	124

Q7	Women in leadership cannot be good mothers. Do you? 1)Strongly disagree 2)Disagree 3)Undecided 4)Agree 5)Strongly agree	120
Q8	How often do you think women in leadership positions are treated less well because of their gender? 1)Never 2)Rarely 3)Sometimes 4)Very often 5)Always	153
Q9	How often do you think women in leadership roles experience unwanted physical contact? 1)Never 2)Rarely 3)Sometimes 4)Very often 5)Always	138
Q10	Are there women leaders in your community that you admire? Reply with 1 or 2. 1)Yes 2)No	88
Q11	Are there women leaders in media [film, television, videos] that you admire? Reply with 1 or 2. 1)Yes 2)No	106
Q12***	What is your ethnicity? 1)Hispanic or Latino 2)White 3)Black 4)Indigenous 5)Asian 6)Other This item to be asked ONLY in US and Canada.	200

Q13	Do you have any difficulties in daily living [e.g. seeing, hearing, moving, talking]? 1)Yes 2)No	97
Q14	What is the highest level of schooling you have completed? 1)None 2)Primary 3)Secondary 4)Further education/tertiary	117
Q15***	Are you married? 1) Yes 2) No 3) Divorced/ Widowed / Separated This item to be asked in replacement of ethnicity item (Q12) in all other contexts.	185
Q16	Where would you place yourself on a ladder if the top is for those with the best jobs, education, money? 1)Towards the bottom 2)In the middle 3)towards the top	159

ANNEX 3: FOCUS GROUP DISCUSSION TOOL

Please note that this is a master version of the tool which was adapted: separated for each of the five countries participating in the focus groups according to local context.

Setting up

<u>Consent:</u> participants should have been through a consent process in advance of the FGD. Those aged 17 or under must have consent of a parent or guardian. See <u>consent process</u> for details. Participants who have not been through the consent process cannot take part in this activity.

<u>Participants:</u> There should be 6-8 girls or young women in the room, of approximately the same age range:

- 15-17
- 18-20
- 21-25

<u>Room set-up:</u> The room or space should be private and quiet, away from other noise or others who might listen in. There should be places to sit in a circle, and room to move around.

Equipment: Flip chart paper & pens, a large outline of a body (A2), post-it notes.

Introduction – 10 mins

- Remind all participants of the following:
 - We will be discussing questions with them about girls and young women in leadership or positions of power, and the role of others in girls' lives.
 - Everything you say today will be used to improve how we work at Plan International.
 - Everything you say is completely anonymous. Things you say may be used in reports or publications, but we will never publish or share your name with anyone.
 - We ask that you keep what you hear today confidential too. However, please remember that there are others in the room, so only share what you are comfortable with.
 - You don't have to answer any of the questions if you don't want to, and you can choose to leave at any time. It's fine if you decide you don't want to take part anymore.
 - Ask the participants if they have any questions about those points.
- Rules of the discussion ask the young women to come up with rules for the meeting. Make sure they cover the following:
 - We want to hear as many opinions as possible there are no right or wrong answers
 - Respect each other and listen to what others have to say, don't cut anyone off or dominate the discussion
 - o Try not to have side conversations unless it's part of the activity
 - Keep what you hear in this room secret or confidential it might harm others if you tell people what they have said
 - o If you have to take a phone call please leave the space (not relevant in all contexts).
- The meeting should take about two hours in total.

Activity 1: body mapping – 55 mins

- 1. Put a large outline of a body on the floor
- 2. Say to the group: 15 mins
 - This is a young woman who is a leader in her community. I want you to tell me all about her.
 - Let's start with her head! What kind of knowledge does she have? Remember she's a leader – so what kind of things do you think she would need to know or understand to be a leader? How do such people think?

[Ask the girls to write or draw some ideas on post-it notes or directly on to the paper near the head. They can do it on their own or discuss with the person next to them].

- Okay next, let's move to her hands. What kind of things does she do? What activities does she take part in?
- [repeat ask girls to write notes down and put on the image near the hands]
 - Now, what about her heart? What kind of person is she? What kind of character does she have? How does she treat people around her?

[add notes near heart]

• Next, let's talk about her feet! Where has she been in her life and what has she done? What is she doing now? What kind of experience does she need, in order to become a leader? Where is she going in the future?

[add notes near feet]

- So now on to the stomach! What are her goals and ambitions? What does she want to change? In what ways does she help her community?
- [add notes near stomach]
 - Mouth What does she say? What kind of messages does she share?
 - Ears What do people say to her or about her? How do they react to the fact that she is a leader?

[add notes near ears]

Eyes – What kind of images and messages does she see around her?

Okay, now we have done a lot of the body! Let's discuss what you have written.

EARS: What do people say to her or about her? How do they react to the fact she is a leader?



- 3. Go through each of the sections in turn and discuss what is written. Read the comments/ pictures aloud and ask the young women to explain more. If the young women are not sharing much, ask probing questions, such as: 20 mins
 - Why do you think that?
 - Can you explain more?
 - o Is that specific to leaders, or is it true of all girls? Why/ why not?

4. Once you've been through all the body parts, say to the young women: - 20 mins

We've learnt a lot about what a young female leader might be like, her skills, experience and character. Is there anything else you can tell me about her, apart from what we've already discussed?

- Do you think she likes being a leader? Why/ why not?
- Do you think young women like you could become leaders, or are already leaders or drivers of change? Why / why not?
- What do we mean when we talk about a 'leader'? Is there a difference between someone who is a global leader and someone who is a leader in their community or family? What are those difference, and what are the similarities?
- Why do you think would people want to become leaders, and driver change or hold positions of power?
- What do you think are the challenges people face when they want to become a driver of change? Is it different for men and women?
- If you were a leader, what would you want to change? How would you act towards others around you, and what would you do?

SHORT BREAK - 5 minutes

Activity 2 –influence or inspiration – 60 minutes

 As a whole group, ask the young women to brainstorm people who affect their lives. Who influences you or inspires you and your aspirations for the future? They could be people you know - in your family or household, at your school, in your community - or people you've never met, like politicians, movie stars or people on TV, they could be living next door or in America! Ask the group to think and discuss in pairs (2 minutes). Then ask everyone to share their ideas and write them down on post-it notes/ pieces of paper. - 15 minutes

- 2. Next, show the respondents the three corners:
 - Corner 1: People who make decisions for you. These are people who decide things about your life or your future. They might ask for your opinion, but they have the ultimate say.
 - Corner 2: People who help you to make your own decisions. These are people who discuss or input into decisions or plans, but let you make up your own mind.
 - Corner 3: People who inspire you or act as a role model. People that are inspirational or influential, or are role models to you; could be someone you know personally or famous or well-known people.

Together, go through the list of people they have brainstormed, and ask them to agree where that person goes. Each person can go under as many categories as relevant (so 'mother' might go under corner 1, 2 and 3, for example). They can add more people if they think of them.

-15 minutes

- 3. Go to corner 2 (people who help you make your decisions). Ask the young women the following questions and discuss:
 - Who are the people in corner 2? What kind of roles do they have, in your life or in society more generally?
 - How do the people in corner 2 help you to make your own decisions? What do they do? What kind of guidance do they provide?

-10 minutes

- 4. Go to corner 3. Ask the young women the following questions and discuss:
 - Who are the people in corner 3? What kind of roles do they have, in your life or in society more generally?
 - How do the people in corner 3 inspire you? What qualities do you find positive or useful about them?
 - Can you think of any examples of how this kind of person might change someone's aspirations or plans for the future?

-10 minutes

Plenary Discussion – 30 minutes

Say to respondents: We have discussed many useful things today! I just wanted to ask a couple of questions or reflections based on this:

- Do you think girls and young women can and should be leaders? Why/ why not?
- What do you mean by 'leader'? Is there a difference between someone who is a global leader and someone who is a leader in their community or family? What are those difference, and what are the similarities?
- If you were a leader, what would you want to change? How would you act towards others around you, and what would you do?

Closing

Thank the participants. Remind them of how the responses will be used but that they will remain anonymous. Remind them not to share things that were discussed by others in the session.

⁴ ATALANTA, Getting Impatient: Overcoming barriers to women's political leadership & accelerating progress towards equality (2017), Available from:

https://static1.squarespace.com/static/595411f346c3c48fe75fd39c/t/5a198d188165f542d679b618/1511623962875/G etting-Impatient-Atalanta-Report_FINAL.pdf Accessed 14 April 2019.

⁵ ATALANTA, Getting Impatient: Overcoming barriers to women's political leadership & accelerating progress towards equality (2017), Available from:

https://static1.squarespace.com/static/595411f346c3c48fe75fd39c/t/5a198d188165f542d679b618/1511623962875/G etting-Impatient-Atalanta-Report FINAL.pdf Accessed 14 April 2019.

⁶ Joane Nagel, "Nation," in *Handbook of Studies on Men and Masculinities,* ed. Michael Kimmel, Jeff Hearn and R. W. Connell (Thousand Oaks, CA, Sage Publications, 2004).

⁷ Disabled Women's Network (DAWN) Ontario, *The Feminist Principle of Leadership*, (2008) cited in Srilatha Batliwala, "Feminist Leadership for Social Transformation: Clearing the Conceptual Cloud" (New Delhi: CREA, 2011), p.1-79.

⁸ Srilatha Batliwala, "Feminist Leadership for Social Transformation: Clearing the Conceptual Cloud" (New Delhi: CREA, 2011).

⁹ Inter-Parliamentary Union, *Women in National Parliaments: Situation as of June 1 2018,* Available from: <u>http://archive.ipu.org/wmn-e/world.htm</u> Accessed 14 April 2019.

¹⁰ Ibid.

¹¹ Inter-Parliamentary Union, Youth Participation in National Parliaments (2016), Available from:

https://www.ipu.org/resources/publications/reports/2016-07/youth-participation-in-national-parliaments Accessed 14 April 2019.

¹² Inter-Parliamentary Union, *Women in National Parliaments: Situation as of 1 January 2019* (2019), Available from: <u>http://archive.ipu.org/wmn-e/world.htm_Accessed 14 April 2019</u>.

¹³ Catalyst, *Quick Take: Women in Management* (2018), Available from: https://www.catalyst.org/knowledge/womenmanagement Accessed 25 August 2018.

¹⁴ Grant Thornton, *Women in Business: Beyond Policy to Progress* (2018), Available from:

https://www.grantthornton.global/globalassets/1.-member-firms/global/insights/women-in-business/grant-thorntonwomen-in-business-2018-report.pdf Accessed 25 August 2018.

¹⁵ Grant Thornton, *Women in Business: Building a Blueprint for Action* (2019), Available from: <u>https://www.grantthornton.global/globalassets/global-insights---do-not-edit/2019/women-in-business/gtil-wib-</u> report grant-thornton-spreads-low-res.pdf Accessed 14 April 2019.

¹⁶ Grant Thornton, *Women in Business: Building a Blueprint for Action* (2019), Available from: https://www.grantthornton.global/globalassets/global-insights---do-not-edit/2019/women-in-business/gtil-wib-

report grant-thornton-spreads-low-res.pdf Accessed 14 April 2019.

¹⁷ McKinsey Research, *Delivering Through Diversity* (2018), Available from:

https://www.mckinsey.com/~/media/mckinsey/business%20functions/organization/our%20insights/delivering%20through%20diversity/delivering-through-diversity_full-report.ashx Accessed 25 August 2018.

¹⁸ Janet T. Spence and Robert L. Helmreich, *Masculinity and Femininity: Their Psychological Dimensions, Correlates and Antecedents* (Austin: University of Texas Press, 1978).

¹⁹ Jeane Twenge, "Changes in Masculine and Feminine Traits Over Time: A Meta-Analysis," *Sex Roles*, vol. 36, no. 5-6, (1997).

²⁰ Anne M. Koenig, Alice H. Eagly, Abigail A. Mitchell, and Tiina Ristikan, "Are Leader Stereotypes Masculine? A Meta-Analysis of Three Research Paradigms," *Psychological Bulletin*, vol. 137, no. 4, (2011).

²¹ Alice H. Eagly, and Steven J. Karau, "Role Incongruity Theory of Prejudice Toward Female Leaders," *Psychological Review*, vol. 109, no. 3, (2002).

²² Robert Wm. Blum, *Adolescence: Age and Stage. Understanding the Golden Threads that Connect the Adolescent Girl Experience Worldwide* (Maryland: John Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health, 2017), Available from: https://www.girleffect.org/stories/adolescence-age-and-stage/ Accessed 3 October 2018.

²³ Catalyst, "Damned or Doomed – Catalyst Study on Gender Stereotyping at Work Uncovers Double-Bind Dilemmas for Women," *Women in Management Review*, vol. 22, no. 8, (2007).

¹ James J. Cribbin, *Leadership: Strategies for organizational effectiveness* (New York: Pan Books, 1981). Charles F. Rauch and Orlando Behling, "Functionalism: Basis for an alternate approach to the study of leadership," in *Leaders and managers: International perspectives on managerial behavior and leadership*, ed. J. G. Hunt, D. M. Hosking, C. A. Schriesheim, and R. Stewart (New York: Pergamon Press, 1984), p.46.

James H. Donelly, John M. Ivancevich and James L. Gibson, *Organizations: Behavior, Structure, Processes*, 5th ed. (Texas: Business Publications Inc, 1985), p.362.

Paul Hersey and Kenneth H. Blanchard, *Management of organizational behaviour* (New York: Prentice Hall, 1988), p.86.

² Michael A. Hoyt and Cara. L. Kennedy, "Leadership and Adolescent Girls: A Qualitative Study of Leadership Development," *American Journal of Community Psychology*, vol. 42, no. 3-4 (2008).

³ Alice H. Eagly and Blair T. Johnson, "Gender and Leadership Style: A Meta-Analysis," *CHIP Documents*, no.11, (1990), Available from: <u>https://opencommons.uconn.edu/chip_docs/11/</u> Accessed 14 April 2019.

²⁴ Alice H. Eagly, and Steven J. Karau, "Role Incongruity Theory of Prejudice Toward Female Leaders," Psychological Review, vol. 109, no. 3, (2002).

²⁵ UNESCO, "Gender Review: Creating Sustainable Futures for All," *Global Education Monitoring Report,* (Paris: UNESCO, 2016), Available from: <u>http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0024/002460/246045e.pdf</u> Accessed 18 April 2018.

²⁶ UNESCO, "Gender Review: Creating Sustainable Futures for All," *Global Education Monitoring Report,* (Paris: UNESCO, 2016), Available from: <u>http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0024/002460/246045e.pdf</u> Accessed 18 April 2018.

International Labour Organization, *Women at Work Trends 2016* (Geneva: International Labour Office, 2016), Available from: <u>http://www.ilo.org/gender/Informationresources/Publications/WCMS 457317/lang--en/index.htm</u> Accessed 18 April 2018.

International Labour Organization, *Global Employment Trends for Youth 2015: Scaling up Investments in Decent Jobs* (Geneva: International Labour Office, 2015), Available from: <u>https://www.ilo.org/global/research/global-reports/youth/2015/WCMS_412015/lang--en/index.htm Accessed 14 April 2019.</u>

²⁷ International Labour Organization, *Women at Work Trends 2016* (Geneva: International Labour Office, 2016), Available from: <u>http://www.ilo.org/gender/Informationresources/Publications/WCMS 457317/lang--en/index.htm</u> Accessed 18 April 2018.

²⁸ UN Women, *Transforming Economies, Realizing Rights. Progress of the World's Women 2015–2016* (New York: UN Women Headquarters, 2015), Available from: <u>http://www.unwomen.org/en/digital-</u>

library/publications/2015/4/progress-of-the-worlds-women-2015 Accessed 14 April 2019.

²⁹ World Bank, *Women, Business and the Law 2018* (Washington: World Bank Group, 2018), Available from: <u>http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/926401524803880673/pdf/125804-PUB-REPLACEMENT-PUBLIC.pdf</u> Accessed 18 April 2018.

³⁰ Marcus Noland, Tyler Moran, and Barbara Kotschwar, "Is Gender Diversity Profitable? Evidence from a Global Study," *Peterson Institute for International Economics: Working Paper Series,* WP 16-3 (February 2016), Available from: <u>https://piie.com/publications/wp/wp16-3.pdf</u> Accessed 10 October 2018.

³¹ Monica C. Schneider and Angela L. Bos, "Measuring Stereotypes of Female Politicians," *Political Psychology*, vol. 35, no. 2, (2014).

³² Ibid., p.260.

³³ Catalyst, "Damned or Doomed – Catalyst Study on Gender Stereotyping at Work Uncovers Double-Bind Dilemmas for Women," *Women in Management Review*, vol. 22, no. 8, (2007).

³⁴ Alice, H. Eagly and Linda, L. Carli, *Women and the Labyrinth of Leadership*, (Harvard Business Review: 2007), Available from: <u>https://hbr.org/2007/09/women-and-the-labyrinth-of-leadership</u> Accessed 14 April 2019.

³⁵ Kathleen H. Jamieson, *Beyond the Double Bind: Women and Leadership* (New York: Oxford University Press, 1997).

³⁶ Catalyst, "Damned or Doomed – Catalyst Study on Gender Stereotyping at Work Uncovers Double-Bind Dilemmas for Women," *Women in Management Review*, vol. 22, no. 8, (2007).

³⁷ Rick Weissbourd, *Leaning Out: Teen Girls and Leadership Biases*, (Cambridge: Harvard Graduate School of Education and Making Caring Common Project, 2015), Available from:

https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5b7c56e255b02c683659fe43/t/5bae5d7853450ad602cc8681/1538153864970/ leanout-report.pdf Accessed 14 April 2019.

³⁸ Rebecca Riffkin, "Americans Still Prefer a Male Boss to a Female Boss," *Gallup* (2014), Available from: <u>http://www.gallup.com/poll/178484/americans-prefer-male-boss-female-boss.aspx</u> Accessed 10 October 2018. Alice Eagly, "Female Leadership Advantage and Disadvantage: Resolving the Contradictions," *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, vol. 31, no. 1, (February 2007), p.1.

³⁹ Pew Research Center, *Women and Leadership: Public Says Women are Equally Qualified, but Barriers Persist* (Washington: Pew Research Center, 2015), Available from: <u>https://assets.pewresearch.org/wp-</u>

<u>content/uploads/sites/3/2015/01/2015-01-14 women-and-leadership.pdf</u> Accessed 28 August 2018. ⁴⁰ Sophie von Stumm, Tomas Chamorro-Premuzic, and Adrian Furnham, "Decomposing Self-estimates of Intelligence: Structure and Sex Differences Across 12 Nations," *British Journal of Psychology*, vol. 100, no. 2, (2009).

(2009). ⁴¹ Rick Weissbourd, *Leaning Out: Teen Girls and Leadership Biases,* (Cambridge: Harvard Graduate School of Education and Making Caring Common Project, 2015), Available from:

https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5b7c56e255b02c683659fe43/t/5bae5d7853450ad602cc8681/1538153864970/ leanout-report.pdf Accessed 14 April 2019.

⁴² J.D. Nordell, *Positions of Power: How Female Ambition is Shaped* (The Slate Gist, 2006), Available from: <u>http://www.slate.com/articles/news and politics/the gist/2006/11/positions of power.html2016</u> Accessed 8 August 2018.

⁴³ Rick Weissbourd, *Leaning Out: Teen Girls and Leadership Biases*, (Cambridge: Harvard Graduate School of Education and Making Caring Common Project, 2015), Available from:

https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5b7c56e255b02c683659fe43/t/5bae5d7853450ad602cc8681/1538153864970/ leanout-report.pdf Accessed 14 April 2019.

⁴⁴ J.D. Nordell, *Positions of Power: How Female Ambition is Shaped* (The Slate Gist, 2006), Available from: <u>http://www.slate.com/articles/news and politics/the gist/2006/11/positions of power.html2016</u> Accessed 8 August 2018. ⁴⁵ Gage Consortium, *Gender and Adolescence: Why Understanding Adolescent Capabilities, Change Strategies and Contexts Matters* (London: Overseas Development Institute, 2017), Available from: https://euagenda.eu/upload/publications/untitled-141791-ea.pdf Accessed 5 October 2018.

⁴⁶Anna Fels, *Necessary Dreams: Ambition in Changing Women's Lives* (New York: Anchor Press, 2005).

⁴⁷ Ibid.

⁴⁸ Ibid.

49 Ibid.

⁵⁰ Jennifer L. Lawless and Richard L. Fox, *Girls Just Wanna Not Run: The Gender Gap In Young American's Political Ambition* (Washington: Women and Politics Institute, 2013), Available from:

https://www.american.edu/spa/wpi/upload/Girls-Just-Wanna-Not-Run Policy-Report.pdf Accessed 8 August 2018. ⁵¹ Jennifer L. Lawless and Richard L. Fox, *Running from Office: Why Young Americans are Turned Off by Politics* (New York: Oxford University Press, 2015).

⁵² Jennifer L. Lawless and Richard L. Fox, *Running from Office: Why Young Americans are Turned Off by Politics* (New York: Oxford University Press, 2015).

⁵³ KPMG, *KPMG Women's Leadership Study: Moving Women Forward into Leadership Roles* (2017), Available from: <u>https://home.kpmg/content/dam/kpmg/ph/pdf/ThoughtLeadershipPublications/KPMGWomensLeadershipStudy.pdf</u> Accessed 16 August 2018.

⁵⁴ Basam A. Hamad, Ingrid Gercama, and Nicole Jones, *We Girls Also Have Ambitions! Exploring Opportunities for and Challenges to Quality Education for Adolescents in the Gaza Strip*, (London: GAGE Consortium, 2017), Available from: <u>https://www.gage.odi.org/publication/education-adolescents-gaza/</u> Accessed 4 October 2018.

⁵⁵ Jean M. Gerard and Margaret Z. Booth, "Family and School Influences on Adolescents' Adjustment: The Moderating Role of Youth Hopefulness and Aspirations for the Future," *Journal of Adolescence*, vol. 44, (2015).
 ⁵⁶ KPMG, *KPMG Women's Leadership Study: Moving Women Forward into Leadership Roles* (2017), Available from:

https://home.kpmg/content/dam/kpmg/ph/pdf/ThoughtLeadershipPublications/KPMGWomensLeadershipStudy.pdf Accessed 16 August 2018.; Nicole Archard, "Preparing Adolescent Girls for School and Post-School Leadership: Recommendations to School Educators from Educational Staff, Female Students, and Women Leaders," International Journal of Adolescence and Youth, vol. 18, no. 3, (2012).

⁵⁷ Lori Beaman, Esther Duflo, Rohini Pande, and Petia Topalova, "Female Leadership Raises Aspirations and Educational Attainment for Girls: A Policy Experiment in India," *Science*, vol. 335, no.6068, (2012).

⁵⁸ Stacy L. Smith, Marc Choueiti and Katherine Pieper, *Gender Bias Without Border: An Investigation of Female Characters in Popular Films Across 11 Countries,* (Los Angeles: The Geena Davis Institute on Gender in Media, 2014), Available from: <u>https://seejane.org/wp-content/uploads/gender-bias-without-borders-full-report.pdf</u> Accessed 29 April 2019.

⁵⁹ Jennifer L. Lawless and Richard L. Fox, *Men Rule: The Continued Under-Representation of Women in U.S. Politics* (Women and Politics Institute, American University, 2016), Available from:

https://www.american.edu/spa/wpi/upload/2012-Men-Rule-Report-web.pdf, Accessed 8 August 2018. ⁶⁰ Nicole Archard, "Preparing Adolescent Girls for School and Post-School Leadership: Recommendations to School Educators from Educational Staff, Female Students, and Women Leaders," *International Journal of Adolescence and Youth*, vol. 18, no. 3, (2012).

⁶¹ Tam O'Neil, Georgina Plank and Pilar Domingo, *Support to women and girls' leadership: A rapid review of the evidence* (London: Overseas Development Institute, 2015), Available from:

https://www.odi.org/sites/odi.org.uk/files/odi-assets/publications-opinion-files/9623.pdf Accessed 29 April 2019. ⁶² Disabled Women's Network (DAWN) Ontario, The Feminist Principle of Leadership, (2008) cited in Srilatha Batliwala, "Feminist Leadership for Social Transformation: Clearing the Conceptual Cloud" (New Delhi: CREA, 2011), p.1-79.

⁶³ KPMG, *KPMG Women's Leadership Study: Moving Women Forward into Leadership Roles* (2017) Available from: <u>https://home.kpmg/content/dam/kpmg/ph/pdf/ThoughtLeadershipPublications/KPMGWomensLeadershipStudy.pdf</u> <u>Accessed 16 August 2018</u>.; Nicole Archard, "Preparing Adolescent Girls for School and Post-School Leadership: Recommendations to School Educators from Educational Staff, Female Students, and Women Leaders," *International Journal of Adolescence and Youth*, vol. 18, no. 3, (2012).



Partners

This report is based on research produced by the Geena Davis Institute on Gender in Media and Plan International.

The mission of the **Geena Davis Institute on Gender in Media** is to engage, educate, and influence media content creators, marketers, and audiences about the importance of eliminating gender bias and stereotypes in media. The Institute has amassed the largest body of research on gender prevalence in family entertainment, spanning more than 20 years. Research findings are in high demand by companies and organisations interested in the empowerment of women and girls. The Institute's research serves as the basis for education and outreach programmes that help families, studios, educators and content creators become critical consumers and producers.

Plan International is an independent development and humanitarian organisation that advances children's rights and equality for girls. We strive for a just world, working together with children, young people, supporters and partners. Using our reach, experience and knowledge, Plan International drives changes in practice and policy at local, national and global levels. We are independent of governments, religions and political parties. For over 80 years we have been building powerful partnerships for children and we are active in more than 75 countries.

Girls Get Equal

Plan International has been campaigning for girls' rights for over a decade and the current Girls Get Equal campaign aims to ensure girls and young women have power over their own lives and can help shape the world around them. Promoting young female leadership is central to the Girls Get Equal campaign. While this includes access to formal positions of power and authority, such as increasing the numbers of young women and girls in decision-making roles in public life, it also looks beyond this. The campaign seeks to redefine leadership to better reflect how girls, young women and young advocates and activists are choosing to lead: working with them to ensure that leadership is feminist, gender transformative and inclusive. It means not reinforcing a narrow male-defined set of leadership skills and behaviours or replicating the male-dominated power and leadership structures that currently exist. Throughout the campaign there will be ongoing research, partnering with girls and young women to fully understand what it means to them to be a leader.

Plan International

Global Hub Dukes Court, Duke Street, Woking, Surrey GU21 5BH, United Kingdom

Tel: +44 (0) 1483 755155 Fax: +44 (0) 1483 756505 E-mail: info@plan-international.org

plan-international.org

Published in 2019. Text © Plan International unless otherwise noted